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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at
31 March 2022:
UTFH/RREZFRAR (ARE) REMBAR (REME) 112022638310 22018

SIIC Medical Science and

Technology (Group) Limited Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group) Public Shareholders
LR SRR RAAREEERAR(KAEEH) RFBR
(=) A

RREZXFARAT
TIANDA PHARMACELTICALS LIMITED

(Stock code: 00455)
(RRAATEHE - 00455)

100% 100% 100%

Tianda Chinese Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Limited
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited "
Medicie Limited ! Note2) m TR AEYRBERA
(Note 2) (B 50 (Note 2)
GES) e (HiE2)

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 55%
)

Tianda Pharmaceutcals ) [ (" Tianda Pharmaceuticals )
(Australia) Pty. Ltd
fi

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Limited
RAPEEHEN
(Note3)
(FI5E3)

Tianda Biotech Li Yunnan Meng Sheng

(Hong Kong) Limited Pharmaceut
|

Tianda Healthcare
Investment Limited !
(({:‘ote i) (Note 5)
) ’ (Fft3E5)

imited
i

Tianda Reatty Limited
N

£2)

p
(Note 1) MNote3) (Note 3)
(FfaE1) _ . o _ (HEE3) )
9990% 100% 100%
T % (
yenaa Chinese 010% Tnda Phamaceicals | [ Tands Pramaceuias
ine Limied 5
Sociedade de Medicina (Ch‘)”"” Ld
Chinesa Tianda Liitada
RAFEREFRAT
(Note )

(Note'5)
(B2r4) (Pif&E5) (Pit3E5)
(GEZ L \

99.90% 100%
( TDMal (Group) Limited

Sociedade TDMall(Grupo) Zhuhai Tianda

Processed Chinese
Herbal Medicine Ltd.*
23 B

0.10%

" (Noted)

(FitiE4) (Note )
100% (FitiE5)

TDMal (China) Ltd.*
RAEE(FE)BRAT
(Note 5)
(PitiEs5)

100%

Zhuhai TDMall Ltd.*

EN
(Note 5)
(PitiEs)

100%
Guangzhou TOMall Ltd.*
EMRAEEERAR

(Note 5)

(Fi13E5)

100%

(Note 5)
(Fit5ES)
—————

100%
TDMal (Hong Kong) Limited
B, B A
(Note3)
(FftiE3)
90%
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e (1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability
e RORARI TS A 3 2 B R/ E)
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( 5)
~— (3)  Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
Tianda Chinese REBEMBEILZERATE
Medicine Institute Limited

Sociedade de Medi . . .. . e
Criesamsio (4)  Incorporated in Macau with limited liability

@ | Tendalimiaca | 9% FRPIEMAIZZBRAR
FRHEEFARARAT
Seed (5)  Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
00% RARFMEIIZARAR
Zhuhai Tianda Chinese
Mediicine Research And * For identification purpose only
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i EE X K=
Tianda for Health!

| Award & Certificate $E 15 S 28 = N 5 y

Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded The Outstanding Brand Awards
2021-Chinese Medicine Services of Economic Digest
RAREEXLE (KE—RB) BHMmEAE2021-HEREERTS

The “TDMall on Cloud” App won the Hong Kong Business Technology Excellence
Awards 2021 - Mobile (Healthcare Technology)

M FRARE)l FHFERTZT55 % Hong Kong Business Technology Excellence
Awards 2021 - S FE R (B ERERH)

SGS. . 868
Zhohai TOMal Tﬁ%‘}}"‘?gg‘ c|;; ‘ /A‘;
Zhuhai TDMall received the SGS 1SO 9001:2015 certification L @ y s { m‘
(Quality Management Systems) and Qualicert Service Quality
Certification

BB R AEEESGSIEEEISO 9001201 B = EIERE AR
B Qualicert B PR ARFS 25

Tianda Pharmaceuticals won the “Best Mid and Small Caps Company” award for two
consecutive years

RAREXEEMFER 'REPNHEAR K&

The “TDMall on Cloud” App is connected to Guangdong’s Internet
Medical Service Monitoring Platform

rEFRARE FHREMRREDEANSESCHARRREE

YA

The “TDMall on Cloud”App received Information System Security
Protection Certification (Level 3) by the Ministry of Public Security
of the People's Republic of China

IEEXAE BPFEARINBEAZHBENEERAL
EERRE=RDE
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director
since 6 October 2003. He is currently the Chairman, the Managing
Director, the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the remuneration committee and the risk management committee
of the Company, and a director of the Group’s certain subsidiaries.
Mr. Fang is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner of Tianda
Group Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
1,194,971,370 Shares). Mr. Fang currently is the chairman of the
board of directors, general manager and authorized representative
of Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations Systems, company code: 837889).
Mr. Fang studied International Relations in the University of Sydney
and Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate
strategy and management. He established a non-profit strategic
studies think tank named “Tianda Institute”. Upholding the mission of
“Caring for a Better World”, Mr. Fang has all along provided financial
support to communities in need, including donations to the poverties,
education and talent development, healthcare, scientific research and
environmental protection, culture and arts.

Mr. LUI Man Sang, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 30 September 2013 and is a director of the Group’s
certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy general manager
of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial management of
Tianda Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of Tianda Culture
Holdings (China) Limited (listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, company code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses enriched
financial management experience covering a variety of industries
including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in Hong
Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong listed
company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. SHEN Bo, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director and
a member of the audit committee of the Company on 10 August 2015.
He is a non-practicing member of certified public accountant of the
People’s Republic of China. He received his bachelor degrees majoring
in accounting and economics from Shanghai Institute of Construction
Materials Industry and master of accountancy from Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Shen is the executive director, vice president and
chief financial officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.,*
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
601607, and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, with stock code 02607), which holds 13.05% equity
interest in the Company.) He is also the chairman of SPH Changzhou
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the chairman of Shanghai Medical Instruments
Co., Ltd., the chairman of Shanghai Hefeng Pharmaceuticals Limited,
the chairman of Shanghai Traditional Chinese Medicine Co., Ltd. and
an executive director of China International Pharmaceutical (Holding)
Corporation Limited. Mr. Shen is a non-executive director of Shanghai
Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on
the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange with stock code 688505 and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with
stock code 1349). Mr. Shen served as manager of finance department
and chief financial officer in several large companies in mainland China
so has extensive experience in corporate management, financial control,
and governance of pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March
2010, Mr. Shen served as the head of financial planning department,
general manager of finance department and chief financial officer in
Shanghai Industrial Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company
formerly listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607).
During the same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of
finance department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 45, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is Chief Financial Officer of
Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.66% equity
interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in corporate
financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta
in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to January 2022, he
took various positions in the finance department of Hongta, including
deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy head of
asset management division, head of general management division
and head of the finance department. He was also the head of financial
planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013 to August 2014.
Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and master in business
administration at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng
possesses the qualification of practising certified public accountant in
mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee and a
member of audit committee of the Company in 2004. On 26 November
2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee. He was
appointed as a member of nomination committee and risk management
committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam worked with Kwan Wong Tan
& Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Oriental Press Group Limited) (stock code: 0018), which is listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He is admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
CNOOC Limited (stock code: 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. CHIU Fan Wa, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and audit committee of the Company on 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F. S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and a Chartered Tax Advisor.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

The continued COVID-19 pandemic, increasing global inflation
and the interest rate hiking cycle in Europe and the United States have
increased the risk of an economic downturn, triggering the complexity
and uncertainty in domestic and international economic development.
Nevertheless, the Healthy China Initiative and the introduction of
medical policies by the Chinese Government have brought a favorable
macro environment for the medical and healthcare industry in the long
run.

Facing the challenges and opportunities, the Group's business
made steady progress and high-quality development, achieving revenue
of HK$510.0 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2022
(“FYE2022"), an increase of HK$35.7 million over last year. To celebrate
the 10th anniversary of the change of the Group’s name to “Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited”, the Board recommended the payment of
a final dividend of HKO0.26 cent per share and a special dividend of
HKO0.56 cent per share to reward its shareholders for their support and
trust over the years.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to execute the strategy
of “development of Chinese medicine business as foundation,
development of innovative drugs and medical technologies, as well as
development of quality medical and healthcare services”, implementing
the “3D+1S” initiatives (business development (BD), research and
development (R&D), investment and development (ID), and marketing
& sales (S)) working in tandem to continuously enrich product lines
and improve the quality and quantity of R&D projects in the pipeline
through external introduction, research and development, and mergers
and acquisitions, as well as to identify cutting-edge technologies
and products and quality projects worldwide in an effort to achieve
high-quality leapfrog development.

For the Chinese medicine business, in the “Outline of the 14th
Five-Year Plan and the Vision 2035", China has proposed to promote
the inheritance and innovation of Chinese medicine, insist on the
equal importance and complementary advantages of Chinese and
Western medicine, vigorously develop the Chinese medicine industry
and give full play to the unique advantages of Chinese medicine in the
prevention, treatment and rehabilitation of diseases. The Group has
established a complete traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) industrial
chain layout, adopting a variety-centric approach, to focus on domestic
and overseas trading of Chinese medicinal materials, production and
sales, and distribution of TCM decoction pieces and formula granules,
integrating quality resources from upstream to downstream for the
industry.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business,
the Group focuses on products and technology, actively introducing,
developing and acquiring innovative drugs, generic drugs, healthcare
products, and medical devices for cardiovascular and cerebrovascular,
women and children, and respiratory system diseases, oncology and
rehabilitation. The new R&D and production base in Jinwan, Zhuhai
successfully commenced operations, which is poised to become a
pharmaceutical and health industry base with high standard, quality and
efficiency through innovation, product lines enrichment and production
capacity expansion.

For the Medical and healthcare services, the Group has steadily
advanced the development of the modern Chinese medical clinic
“TDMall”. Through self-construction, franchising and mergers and
acquisitions, the Group’s priority is to expand in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, while making plans for a national
and global rollout. In early 2022, amid the fifth wave of the COVID-19
pandemic in Hong Kong, the Group launched the “TDMall Cloud-based
Global Anti-epidemic Chinese Medicine Platform” to support the Group’s
“Free Consultation and Medicine” charity campaign in Hong Kong,
joining hands with charitable organizations and using TDMalls’ exclusive
TCM Anti-Epidemic Formulas to provide the public with comprehensive
remote Chinese medicine services from prevention, treatment to
rehabilitation, as well as launched Chinese medicine services for
mitigating long-COVID.

China’s “14th Five-Year Plan” proposes to comprehensively
promote the construction of a healthy China, placing the protection of
people’s health as a strategic priority for development and providing
people with comprehensive life-cycle health services. Adhering to
the corporate vision of “Tianda for Health!”, the Group will continue
to execute the “Three Developments” strategy, implementating the
“3D+1S” initiatives, to inherit and innovate, seize the opportunities, and
endeavour to become a leading pharmaceutical enterprise that sets its
footholds in China while expanding its presence worldwide.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our shareholders, clients, staff and business partners for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group, and also the Board
of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious
business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall, the Group’s businesses made steady progress and
achieved high-quality development, with total revenue of HK$510.0
million for the FYE2022, representing an increase of HK$35.7 million or
7.5% year-on-year (yoy).

For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business
segment, revenue for the FYE2022 was HK$396.1 million, an
increase of HK$38.4 million or 10.7% yoy. The Group’s major product,
Tuoping®Valsartan capsules, a medicine for cardio-cerebrovascular
disease, became the No. 1 product in its category in China by sales
quantity as it seized the opportunity of the success in securing first
place in the nation’s Third Round of Centralized Drug Procurement with
Target Quantity to supply nationwide, which increased both sales and
brand awareness. Through the integration of sales teams and channels,
the Group’s medicines, especially the pediatric drugs, Tuoen®Ibuprofen
oral suspension and Ibuprofen suspension drops, also achieved
satisfactory sales growth. The Group’s new R&D and production base
in Jinwan, Zhuhai commenced operations and 5 CDMO/CMO contracts
were successfully signed.

For the Chinese medicine business segment, the Group continued
to perfect its TCM whole-industry-chain layout, including the trading of
Chinese medicinal materials, production and sales of TCM decoction
pieces and the R&D of TCM. By covering the main production areas
in China and utilizing various feasible methods to form mutually
beneficial cooperation with partners such as medicinal materials
farmers, cooperatives, distributors and pharmaceutical companies, the
Group built a nationwide and global business network for the Chinese
medicinal materials business. In the first nine months of the FYE2022,
the Chinese medicine business achieved faster growth. However, the
rapidly changing pandemic situation from January through March in
2022 in China affected the transportation, acceptance and testing of
Chinese medicinal materials trading business while the productions of
some customers had to be temporarily shut down due to the pandemic
prevention and control measures. As a result, this segment recorded a
decrease in revenue of HK$5.5 million or 4.9% to HK$106.5 million for
the FYE2022 compared to last year.
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For the Medical and healthcare services segment, revenue for the
FYE2022 was HK$7.4 million, an increase of HK$2.7 million or 57.4%
yoy. The modern Chinese medical clinic TDMalls have been opened in
Zhuhai, Hong Kong and Sydney successively since 2019 with the aim
to build the chain operation model under three different local laws and
regulations for Chinese medicine. An equity investment cooperation
model was adopted for the first time when the Group and a renowned
Chinese medicine expert invested in and opened a TDMall together.
This model and other ways, including franchising and M&A, will serve
as a means of rapid expansion for TDMall. The “TDMall on Cloud”, a
cloud technology based Chinese medicine platform, played an important
role in the “Free Consultation and Medicine” charity campaign held
during the FYE2022, providing comprehensive remote Chinese medicine
service to the public.

Innovation and R&D work continued to progress steadily with R&D
expenses of HK$15.9 million for the FYE2022, representing an increase
of HK$4.1 million or 34.7% yoy. Recent developments included: (1)
completed the conformity assessment of Ibuprofen suspension projects;
(2) completed the study on the material benchmark of three Classic
Ancient Prescriptions of Chinese medicines research projects; (3)
accelerated the R&D of innovative Chinese medicine projects and
started the R&D of products derived from the clinical prescriptions of
famous veteran Chinese medicine practitioners; (4) completed the pilot
study and pre-BE study for the project of montelukast sodium granules;
(5) completed the pharmacological trial study and pre-pilot test of
the Nicorandil for injection project; (6) progressed R&D of healthcare
products, with three small-molecule food peptide products developed,
mass produced and launched, and the development of cosmetics
peptide series accelerated.

BD and ID efforts were also stepped up. In the FYE2022, the
Group strengthened its BD and ID teams with a focus on international
perspectives to collect, analyze and screen information on potential
domestic and overseas M&A targets in the fields of proprietary
Chinese medicines, innovative Chinese medicines, chemical medicines
and medical devices, with an aim to acquire hundred-million-dollar
enterprises, purchase ten-million-dollar potential products, and bring
in innovative scientific research results of Chinese medicines that
follow the theory of Chinese medicine and show good clinical value.
The Group is in a strong financial position and has sufficient financial
resources to support the capital expenditure of BD and ID projects.
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OUTLOOK

With China’s “14th Five-Year Plan” to comprehensively promote
the construction of Healthy China, the medical industry has been
presented with both challenges and development opportunities. The
Group remains optimistic about the long-term development of the
medical industry, especially the Chinese medicine industry. In line with
the policy and the development trend of the industry, the Group will
follow the “Three Developments” strategy to deepen the layout of the
three business segments, comprehensively improve the operational
management efficiency, accelerate product introduction and R&D,
strengthen business expansion and investment development, and
develop multiple business model for high-quality development, so as
to strive to become a leading pharmaceutical enterprise that sets its
footholds in China while expanding its presence worldwide to make
greater contribution to safeguarding the health of mankind.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the FYE2022, the Group recorded overall business
growth, with revenue increasing from HK$474.3 million last year to
HK$510.0 million in the FYE2022. The revenue analysis by business
segments is shown in the Business Review section above. Gross
profit decreased from HK$259.0 million last year to HK$241.2 million
in the FYE2022, mainly due to the decrease in unit price and gross
profit of Tuoping®Valsartan capsules after entering centralized drug
procurement program. The decrease in gross profit was offset by the
decrease in selling and distribution expenses due to the change in sales
model arising from centralized drug procurement program. Selling and
distribution expenses decreased from HK$211.7 million last year to
HK$198.0 million for the FYE2022.

Administrative expenses increased from HK$69.8 million last year
to HK$71.5 million in the FYE2022, mainly due to the increase in staff
remuneration expenses as the Group expanded its workforce for the
development of its three business segments. R&D expenses increased
from HK$11.8 million last year to HK$15.9 million in the FYE2022, with
steady progress in innovation and R&D. The latest progress of major
R&D projects is shown in the Business Review section above.
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Other income and net gains increased from HK$7.5 million last
year to HK$16.8 million in the FYE2022, mainly due to a one-off gain
of HK$12.1 million on disposal of a subsidiary in the FYE2022, partially
reduced by a one-off goodwill impairment loss of HK$1.6 million and
decrease in the government subsidy income and interest income.
Income tax credit increased from HK$1.5 million last year to HK$6.3
million in the FYE2022 mainly due to the overprovision in prior years.

In summary, loss attributable to owners of the parent decreased
from HK$27.1 million last year to HK$19.8 million for the FYE2022.
The change in the profitability was mainly attributable to the operating
performance of the Group as analysed above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity continued to stay in a healthy position.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$334.0 million (31 March 2021: HK$235.0 million),
of which approximately 97.8% were denominated in Renminbi (RMB)
with the remaining in Hong Kong dollar, Australian dollar, Euro and
Macau pataca, as well as unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$16.1 million. As at 31 March 2022, the bank borrowings maturing
in one year and maturing within two to five years amounted to HK$57.3
million and HK$90.6 million respectively, which were denominated
in RMB and bear interest at the rate of China LPR + 1%. Since the
borrowings are lesser than the cash and cash equivalents, there is no
net debt (total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents) of the Group.

With this strong financial position, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to finance its operational and capital expenditures.
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EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar.

The Group has sales which use currencies other than its
functional currency RMB. As such, the Group has some exposures to
foreign currency risks. The management from time to time determines
suitable measures, such as entering into forward currency contracts, to
lessen exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions
denominated in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into
any forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at
31 March 2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged certain right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment with carrying value
approximately HK$274.8 million in aggregate to secure a bank loan
facility grant to the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed approximately
675 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms and the
qualifications and experience of the employees concerned.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save as the disposal of Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited which was
completed on 29 March 2022, there was no material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies during the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the CG Code) in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the Listing Rules) during the FYE2022 except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. Having considered the current business operation and the
size of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan
has been the key leader of the Group, who has been primarily involved
in formulation of business strategies and determination of the overall
direction of the Group. He has also been chiefly responsible for the
Group’s operations as he directly supervises the management team of
the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the implementation
of the Group’s business plans, the Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) consider that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
has reviewed this situation periodically.

The CG Code was amended on 1 January 2022 (the “New
Code”), with majority of the amendments applying to financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Major amendments of the
New Code includes the alignment of the Company’s culture with
its purpose, values, and strategy, establishment of anti-corruption
and whistleblowing policies, board independence and diversity
of its members, communication with shareholders, publication of
environmental, social and governance reports at the same time as
publication of annual reports, and rearrangement of the code provisions
and disclosure requirements of the corporate governance code. As this
report relates to the FYE2022, the numbering of code provision in the
report follow the code provisions of the CG Code before the New Code
came into effect.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The Board currently consists of 7 Directors, comprising 2
Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming
Dr. Lam Lee G.
(retired on 26 August 2021)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

EFXTg

EFXTRFRERERART > LEs
RAEEZER RRER MHREREK
TEER EEERERTENAREY
ERTEERZAREF-

EFSRMtRESMER SERR
HITEE MBFEATEER=[BIUIF
WITES B

BITES:
BXEEE (EFRFREFHLE)
BXESRE

JERMITESE :

LR S E

EEREsE

MEREEL
(F220214E8/5 26 H 1B 1F)

BIFERITES:
MBERE
HIMELE

EFERR HTEERIFNGTE
EHZFEACE BRURERSF
> URERRRAEBRZ M -

BUIFATEERIFRITERE ZEH
A2 > WARBAABDZEZMAISER -

Be—2BIFRTESHREEZ
G EXERAEAMBEEER - R0
BEFHEARKEESIN  SEFENE
ZELEECHEZ (BEME - 25 - RB
HHETEKR HERARER) o

FABZERMARERNSRRRE
FRELMBEEFEZ=0—HAHESE"
BIUIERITEF IR UILIRSCRIR - KRF]
BRE=ZZB/IFATESRELHRA
FIBMEPIRE 2 BB Z FEE




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has established procedures to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their duties at
the Company’s expenses. The articles of association of the Company
contain description of responsibility and operation procedures of the
Board. The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
FYE2022:

. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Annual Report 2022
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the FYE2022.

Directors’ meeting

During the FYE2022, the Board held 4 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors BE HE BTEERY
Executive Directors: BITESE
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BX#EE 4/4
(Chairman and Managing Director) (EERFEFHLLE)
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 414
Non-executive Directors: FEHITES .
Mr. Shen Bo TR EE 4/4
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPLEE 414
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREEL 11
(retired on 26 August 2021) (FR20214E8/5 26 H iR 1F)
INEDs: BIUERITES:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MEEEE 4/4
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 4/4
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HINELE 4/4

The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 2 meetings during the FYE2022
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Individual Executive Directors, the Non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the
FYE2022 are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held

HE SBITEERY

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) HERELE (FE) 212
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FAXHERE 212
Mr. Lam Yat Fai N =h P 212
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HmMERE 2/2

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee). Dr. Lam Lee G. did not seek
for re-election in order to devote more time to other business activities
and accordingly retired at the annual general meeting hold on 26 August
2021. No new director was appointed during FYE2022.

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the FYE2022, the nomination committee held 2 meetings.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held

HEBITEERY

Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman) FXRESRE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Lam Yat Fai N=h P 212
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE 212

During the FYE2022, the nomination committee had reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and made recommendation to the Board on
the re-election of retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The
Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out the approach
on diversity of the Board of the Company.
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The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting to the board diversity on an annual basis.

Measurable Objectives

Appointments of directors will not only be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, but also will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Review of this Policy

The Board has reviewed this policy on an annual basis to ensure
its continued effectiveness.

For compliance with the Listing Rules and the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives under were implemented:

. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors;

. at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

. at least 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in; and

. at least two of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”). The nomination committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board periodically and make recommendation on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy. When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or
appoint an additional director, the nomination committee identifies
or selects candidates as recommended to the committee pursuant
to the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board deliberates
and decides on the appointment. In addition, pursuant to the articles
of association of the Company, every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation or re-election at least once every three years
and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting.
The nomination committee shall review the overall contribution and
service to the Company, expertise and professional qualifications of
the retiring directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the
annual general meeting, to determine whether such director continues
to meet the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy. The nomination
committee reviews and assesses the independence of all INEDs on an
annual basis.

The Nomination Policy which sets out the procedures and
criteria for the selection, appointment and reappointment of Directors.
The selection criteria that nomination committee has to consider
in evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship include the
following:

. character and integrity;

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

. requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;

RBHEK

EFXETERM—REIRE (RS
BER) - RBRZE G ESTERE
ANH R AR > W ERSE SRR TR
ERREMBNEZTRBFLOESHIRED
BiE BEAVEHRMETMIEMEBINES
B IR R EERBRBBERAENENY
BAERRRENZESGTHBNIAE - RIE
REZEENEERR  EFTHFRILIR
EAES o IS > RBARBDNEZ4AA]
BREFAEVE=-FRHEBRINEERE
F—R > LEERNERRBERG LIS
BREX - RBZETRERAREERRE
FAELEREEZREEFTAHETAEF
HBEREMRRE - EXENAREEER
B UEEERESESHEBENARZR
RETETIFVER - RREZE GBS F IR
RABEZEBILIIFRTESHNEILE -

REBE > BPIREAY  BERE
HECEENRFREN - REEREHE
HENHBEEREARLEEETIIH
=T

L HEREE

- e

« BREFEER - K ARRE
BRAEANER  URREESRE
ZEBRAKT AT EH R AT
RIEBRNZ TICES ;

© AEHEFESTILRANER
A EER;

- RELTHRVEFEREREE
BIFRITESHRE > UKk2
BR ERAIFrE R IE I E 455!
REAZRSHASEIL ;




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

. any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

. willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

. such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the nomination committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCESS
Appointment of New Director

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

3. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
nomination committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

4. The nomination committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

5. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the nomination
committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

3. The nomination committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/ or applicable laws
and regulations.

Re-election of INED at General Meeting

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

2. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity (including gender
diversity) of the Board.
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The nomination committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs, to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations from time to time and
maintain good corporate governance practice.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the FYE2022, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details
of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the audit committee during the FYE2022
includes the followings:

. review the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 and for the six months ended 30 September
2021;

. consider and approve of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor; and

. review the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one Executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.

During the FYE2022, the risk management committee held 1
meeting. Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors
such as depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the directors of the Company may consider relevant
from time to time. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the Model Code) of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the FYE2022.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and other services, including
reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year provided
by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, the external
auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,458,500 and HK$403,500
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor's Report on pages 53 to 59.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks.

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group — regular
meetings with each business unit to ensure principals risk are
properly managed, and new or changing risks are identified.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls — review of the annual internal audit report and
consideration of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.
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The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

During the FYE2022, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the Audit Committee.

In respect of the FYE2022, the Audit Committee noted that
the 2022 Sales to SPHL Group CCT annual cap was exceeded (as
defined and disclosed in pages 48 to 51 of this annual report) and
concurred with the remedial measures put forward by the Board which
are being implemented by the Group to strengthen its internal controls
regarding the Sales to SPHL CCT. The Audit Committee believed
that the exceeding of the 2022 Sales to SPHL CCT annual cap was
an isolated incident and the deficiency (if any) in internal controls
reflected by such incident can be fixed by the aforesaid remedial
measures, and considered the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group effective and adequate. No significant areas of
concern that may affect the financial, operational, compliance controls,
and risk management of the Group have been identified. The Board
also considered the resources, qualification and experience, training
programs and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would
take further steps to continually improve its risk management and
internal control systems.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a Policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with
the company secretary of the Company is the Financial Controller of the
Company. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the FYE2022, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and investors, so the shareholders communication
policy is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The objective of shareholder communication is to provide
our shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that
they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
The Company establishes various communication channels with its
shareholders and investors and employs a range of communication
tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include general meetings, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company believes that the
annual general meeting is one of the principal channels for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Board welcomes shareholders
to express their opinions at the annual general meeting. Directors
and external auditor attend the annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the re-election
of individual Directors. The notice of the meeting, the annual report and
the circular containing information on the proposed resolutions are sent
to shareholders before the meeting in accordance to the listing rules and
the articles of association of the Company. Procedure for voting by poll
had been read out at the general meetings. All votes of the shareholders
were taken by poll. The Company announced results of the poll in the
manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The 2021 AGM of the Company was held on 26 August 2021.
A notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 26 July
2021 was dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2021 annual
report. A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the
meeting in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of
Directors.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, Dr. Lam Lee G., the Non-executive Director and
three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer questions raised from
shareholders. Mr. Shen Bo and Mr. Feng Quanming, the Non-executive
Directors, were unable to attend the 2021 AGM due to their other
business commitment. No other general meeting was held during the
year.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A Whistleblowing
Policy is in place to create a mechanism for the employees and
other stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties. A designated email account and a
dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose. The identity of
each whistleblower and all information provided in connection with a
whistleblowing report will be treated with the strictest confidence.

FAIR DISCLOSURE

The Company uses its best endeavors to distribute material
information about the Group to all interested parties as timely as
possible. Information about the Group can be found on the Company’s
website including descriptions of each business and the interim and
annual reports of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.
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Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the FYE2022, the
Group promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:

Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2541 6558

Email: ir@tianda.com

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the EGM). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.

(1) Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any shareholder or shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information
of the requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of
business of Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to
direct_enquiries@tianda.com for the attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to put forward
new resolution at general meetings other than a proposal of a person
for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the FYE 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are R&D, manufacture and sales
of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare products. The Group
also engages in R&D of Chinese medicine and manufacture and sales
of Chinese medicine products, and the provision of Chinese medical
services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 containing a fair review of the business during the year and
discussion of future business development of the Group and the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the
sections headed “Report of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” from pages 12 to 13 and pages 14 to 18 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders will be covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report”. The
ESG Report will be published in the due course.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results
by segment for the FYE2022 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the FYE2022, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 26.3% of the Group’s total revenue
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
9.4% of the Group’s total revenue. In addition, for the year ended
31 March 2022, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 50.3% of the Group’s total purchases while the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 32.3% of the Group’s
total purchases.

None of the Directors, associates of Director or Shareholders of
the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the Company’s
five major suppliers or five major customers during the year.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022

are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 60 to 163.
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DIVIDEND

To celebrate the 10th anniversary of the change of the
Group’s name to “Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited” and to reward
the shareholders for their long term support and trust, the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK0.26 cent per share
(2021: HK0.26 cent) and a special dividend of HK0.56 cent per share
(2021: Nil) per share for the FYE2022, subject to shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming 2022 annual general meeting (the AGM). The final
dividend and special dividend is expected to be paid on or before
Thursday, 8 September 2022 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 2 September
2022.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 31 August 2022 to Friday, 2 September 2022 (both day
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend and special dividend, all
completed forms of transfers with the relevant share certificate(s) must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged before 15 August 2022)
or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (if the
transfer will be lodged on or after 15 August 2022), not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 30 August 2022.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 164 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the

Group during the FYE2022 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
FYE2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on page 64 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$81,063,308. Moreover, the share premium account
of the Company may be distributed, provided that inmediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 March 2022, the
Company’s share premium account amounted to HK$355,702,578.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable purposes during the
FYE2022 amounted to HK$12,129.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the FYE2022 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming
Dr. Lam Lee G.
(retired on 26 August 2021)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

Annual Report 2022

&

FEBM02FBFERNZ HEEE
HBHN A FRBARZGAEDEFK o

A 5 5 k{5

R2022F3831H » xR B REHE
BEARZHEZIHRED KK HE
MRk 2 788 & F 49 481,063,308/ 7T © It
Gh o BRBZRDBEBIRATEIRE > A
REANRBREEZEREREBEHE > £—
REBBRTREGEDHRFEREE-
R2022F3831H » ZRBZRMDBEES
355,702,578 T ©

=B

AEEP2MBEFEREERNZ
B A12,12987T ©

EE

R BEFERARBERRS BN
ZERABEES

BITES .

B X E
(BEERFEFILTE)
BXELRE

JERMITESE :

TR S

EERPNSE

MREEL
(F220214E8/5 26 H 1B 1F)

BIEMITES:
MBERE
HERERALE
HMELE

| 2245 2022 I



47 ESEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Fang Wen Quan, Mr. Feng Quanming and Mr. Chiu
Fan Wa shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Being eligible, they will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

INEDs and non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2022, the interests of the Company’s Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO), were as
follows:

RIBEARB ZEZMBIFEF > BX
BRE  BERAERBENERERIE
AEEERRAFAGLHRESE - KF
FEREBEENEERRBEAS LGS
B

BUFRATEERIFATESZEH
25 WARBARBDZERMAER -

EFERBSH

BMEEFRAATFIIUEATREH
BEE REAEREN MATR—FRFTU
I Z R RIBRTFS 15 o

EFERRG REMRS ZEE

12202238318 » IRIBFEFRAEIF
Bl (FREFIFEE) EHFRAEHRE) 5
XA REFFIFEELMZECEHE > NAF
ZEF RETHRABRKRFZBMBAR
TRB KR EBBER Z RN RAERRND R
BAEZEDWMT

Shares of the Company AT RG
Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EENR g1 Fr¥sRe{n 88 B
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note)
B XERE RIELEEFH (Ht:2)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting held on 28 August 2020, the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
Scheme).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain such
important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship, with
participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success and
benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit and
retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their past
contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an
offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No Share Option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 28 August 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in notes 31 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liability incurred by him as such director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRK

7202238310 » IRIBEESF MG K
BIEBIR A A B FIFEZ T ERTE M
Fim: FHIRREBENEARATNHEFES
NERH U L BEITRAZ HERARER :

At 31 March 2022, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
RRRBE 515 FisBEZRIZ#E Bt
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
AREH BEEEAA (Hfaz1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
B XHERE RELEFER (Hfaz1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (SMST)
EEEXRERK (5FE) BEDEBA (Htaz2)
BRAR (L EEBE)
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) (Note 2)
LT EBEEERMAERAT REZEEFAR (Ht5t2)
(BB
Shanghai Industrial Investment Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (SIIC) (Note 2)
EEEXE (EE) BARAE REZFEFE (Htz£2)
(LEER®)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

Limited (Hongta)
AIEEE (EE) BIR
BEAHR

Notes:

£

BEmBEBEA

Htat -

(1) These 1,194,971,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. (1) ZHFE1NUNIMITORB T ERAEEERE
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, BoAXHERERRAEEBEEZIBRE
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,194,971,370 shares it HERARRAKEBMERZ Lt
owned by Tianda Group. 1,194,971 370 IR ID B AR ©

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2) ZF280517, 724NN - BBEBTHES ©
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling TEBRERRE L EEBESY#EE ML
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be BEEA LSEBENERRKERE -Fit > £
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST. SRR -IEBERAAN L BBEMBERTZ

L 31280,517, 724 17 R E B HE = o
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31
March 2022, no short position was recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 March 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the FYE2022, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Major and Connected Transactions

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong Kong)
Limited (“TPHK”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, entered into
an agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, Tianda Group
grants a conditional disposal right (“Disposal Right”) to TPHK. Pursuant
to the Disposal Right, upon fulfiiment of all of the triggering conditions,
TPHK shall inform Tianda Group to acquire, either by Tianda Group
itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiary, and Tianda Group shall,
without any discretion, acquire the entire equity interest in Zhuhai
Tianda Realty Ltd. (“Zhuhai Realty”) from TPHK at a consideration of
RMB125.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$145.0 million) plus
the cash at bank of Zhuhai Realty as at the Closing Date, which the
consideration shall not be more than RMB145.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$168.2 million) in any event. The transactions were
approved by independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 7 May 2019.

LA EMEEEBEFRE © 102022438
318 » BRERE T F KIS 1551 53361%
FRFBEZ B Ml S| ERR A ER o

BREXIREEN > AATLEENS
R AL72022538 31 B H B AR A F5%H
NEBETRAZEMNHECHE -

e - HERBOFATZ LHES

AT S EH A A B A B 72202287 B
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g

FEB/IETET

5 EHRAFE.1305% - AABEURE
BBEUFATESMNHBIUMFRELZE
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HABIAL

REXZRIFEMERS

FERRMERS

201952822 » Z AR 2 EHB A
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On 29 March 2022, pursuant to the agreement, Tianda Group
through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired the entire equity in Zhuhai
Realty from TPHK at a consideration of RMB125.0 million plus the
cash at bank of Zhuhai Realty as at the closing date of approximately
RMB13.3 million, amounting to approximately RMB138.3 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$168.6 million) in total and the closing
took place in the same day. Details of the transactions are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019 and announcement dated 29
March 2022.

The above transactions constitute a major transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Tianda Group, in
which its entire equity interests are owned by Mr. Fang Wen Quan,
the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company, is interested in
approximately 55.58% of the issued share capital of the Company. As
such, Tianda Group is a connected person of the Company and the
abovementioned transactions also constitute non-exempted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the FYE2022, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of these continuing
connected transactions which are subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 16 May 2018, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited*
(*TCH (China)”) for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021.

On 28 February 2020, the Company and TCH (China) entered
into a supplemental agreement to extent the contract period of the
framework agreement till 31 March 2022.

*  For identification purpose only
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TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement, the supplemental agreement and the transactions
contemplated under these framework agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 16 May 2018 and 28 February 2020,
respectively.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2022 as shown as follows:

RAXEE (PE) BEABERKRRR
REBZHMBRAT » WIRE LHRAER
NEZAEANL B> REBELHRAE
14A% > HEZRTEE - R BRRIBZFER
MRBETZR BB RB ZFERME
RZ - BRARBHBARNHNEAET B
#20185F5 816 H ’220205F2H28H Z A&

LRFERERZR202MBEEZ
FELRKAREERZBRIITAT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EpER FELR BERZZEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REIRIRBPE - ORER

packaging boxes and related VBRI E m R AR

products and services 19,000,000 9,017,307

PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 26 March 2018, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.* (SPHL) for
a 3-year term commencing from 1 April 2018 and expiring on 31 March
2021.

On 9 April 2021, the Company and SPHL entered into a renewed
framework agreement for a term of three years commencing from 1
April 2021 to 31 March 2024, and it is expected that the Group and
SPHL Group will from time to time enter into transactions by providing
products (including pharmaceutical products, Chinese medicines and
healthcare products) and logistics services to each other during the
ordinary and usual course of business.

As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under the framework
agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 March 2018, 31 January 2019 and 9 April
2021, respectively.

*

For identification purpose only
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The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2022 as shown as follows:

Annual Report 2022

LRFERERZR202MBREEZ
FELRAREBEREZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EHER FELR BERXZEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Products and logistics services L EREEERAEERRHEN
provided by SPHL Group to 7 i R )i B iR AR S
the Group 7,000,000 -
Products and logistics services AEER LB EERREMYN
provided by the Group to SPHL Group EmRYRRERS
(“Sales to SPHL Group CCT”) (MR LBREEHERE
MERZ1) 18,000,000 18,795,634

The internal audit department of the Company has reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and had no material findings
of non-compliance to report to the independent non-executive Directors,
except for the Sales to SPHL Group CCT exceeded the approved
annual cap.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the Group’s continuing connected transactions and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better, and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

In respect of the Sales to SPHL Group CCT exceeding the
approved annual cap, the Company has made an announcement on 24
June 2022. Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with
the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from
time to time in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the
Group disclosed above.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter containing
the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group as disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules, which is qualified by the Sales to SPHL
Group CCT in 2022 exceeding the approved annual cap. Save for the
qualified conclusion in respect of the exceeding of approved annual
cap, the auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors;

(2)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group; and

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

The Directors made enquiries and reviewed the reasons for the
late discovery of the Sales to SPHL Group CCT exceeded the annual
cap and considered that the exceeding of the approved annual cap was
an inadvertent oversight and an isolated event. In order to prevent the
occurrence of similar events in the future, the Company will take the
following measures to further strengthen the relevant internal monitoring
procedures:

1. arranging regular trainings for our employees, including the
business operation, finance and internal audit departments,
to strengthen their knowledge of Listing Rules and improve
their awareness of the importance of compliance with the
relevant Listing Rules;
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2. conducting more frequent reviews on the transactions with
any connected persons;

3. enhancing more robust supervision over the transaction
amounts incurred under the continuing connected
transactions of the Group. For example, when the
transaction amount reaches 80% or more of the relevant
annual cap at any time, the matter shall promptly be
reported to the Board, which will determine the appropriate
measures to be taken, including but not limited to revising
the relevant annual cap and seeking approval from the
independent shareholders of the Company in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules, if necessary; and

4.  the Group’s internal auditor will monitor the effectiveness
and adequacy of the relevant internal control system, and
make recommendations and reports to the audit committee
of the Company on a regular basis.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in notes 31
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and complied with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the
FYE2022.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the FYE2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Ernst & Young ZXKEFHENEHFR Tel EB5E: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place ERMARHREEITYE  Fax BH: +852 2868 4432

979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 163, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FAREtEE

PR EstFEIR

HREBAFFEERERFMANEEN
i BAHTPRSMBRENEARS
EEMFR BEEFHREERMASFER
HEMBERRRLASRFETERERN-
RAFEGHEESHEHEBNER - 7t
TXEFEMS > HANXARREHEFAN
B EEARETEENFE -

HPIBBIT RS BT FAGFRE
HBEREAEHEFEHFARNEE &
EARAZSEENST ALt > RMANE
SAEBRRTAREGREMBERREANER
BT EMROIZER - B EFHER
BREEUTEENER  SHMAMEH
N EMBEREANEFTRIEHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAINEHNFAEEMRELEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

BERACHEEEEREFG

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries and other intangible assets with carrying amounts of
HK$106.2 million and HK$21.9 million, respectively.

FR2022E3831H 0 EEBERRENBAERECELEE
i 72 4 B9 75 2 AR T =& &8 93 51 %5106,200,0007% 7T 52 21,900,000

JT ©

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:
BPmEmEREEELEEREZ TG
FEE

()  engaged our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the terminal
growth rates and discount rates applied;

() ZABRMAABLEEXTLEEREE
REZMERERERAZAAERR
RITIRE ;
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Key audit matter

FEEtEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEHNFAEEAREEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

BERACHEEEEREFG (&)

The Group’s management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill and other intangible assets related to the cash-generating units
(“CGUs") by estimating the recoverable amount based on value-in-use
calculations. The value in use of the CGUs was determined by
management based on the operating cash flow forecasts of the CGUs,
which required the use of key assumptions including the budgeted
revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rate based on
management’s business plan on operation of the CGUs, the current
market circumstances and management’s expectation of the market
development, as well as suitable discount rates.
EEFEERREERAEEAEAATREERMEHEREE
TEMNARNEERECELEEETREN L - REELE
INEABEREEEREBRSELEUNKERERERR
B HPRECANTIERREEENEEENREELE
UMNEEEBFBNAFRA « BEENENBERERE - A
TBERAMNEEEHTISERNTER  URBENMRE -

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in
the impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.

8 50 il 51 B9 T 8\ R R B ST AE 0 T B IR TE B9 = 7K T I R A R PR
BRINEBAREE > BT ALBEERMNEBAERTEE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the
disclosures of the balances of goodwill and other intangible assets are
included in notes 3, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

FTEEHHE KRG UAREENEEEL S EGRVKERN
REMTBIRARMIEES ~ 168117 ©

(il

(if)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(iv)

(v)

(v)

enquired of management in relation to the
key assumptions, and evaluated them by
benchmarking against historical results and/
or independent data;
MERBRLHEIERE > LiBBEA
B R B EIR LB LUR R
B

evaluated the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BALLRATREFEELRE
FRRESAENMBAENG
MKRFIERZIBRE ;

e
BT

tested a selection of data inputs used in
the cash flow forecasts against supporting
evidence, such as historical financial
information, latest market information
and benchmarking companies’ financial
information; and
RIEZFHEE > MAEHBES
%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%’@ﬁm%%%
B AIERERIER P ERRE S &
}féim)\ » B

assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of
impairment assessment in the consolidated
financial statements.

LR E M BRERPERAETEN
WEBEEEH -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2022
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeiEmAHEEEWmR

Year ended 31 March 2022 &2 2022E3531 H IFE/E

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
PfaE BT BT
REVENUE WA 5 509,955,045 474,332,111
Cost of sales SHE RS (268,732,420)  (215,344,576)
Gross profit EF 241,222,625 258,987,535
Other income, gains and losses, net He WA~ WERE1E5%8 5 16,805,059 7,490,554
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDIHZH (198,002,833)  (211,732,717)
Administrative expenses THXZH (71,458,278)  (69,791,661)
Research and development expenses ez (15,858,862)  (11,825,920)
Finance costs RE AR 7 (725,235) (569,351)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI ARS8 6 (28,017,524)  (27,441,560)
Income tax credit FRISIIE R 10 6,342,756 1,523,754
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEERIE (21,674,768)  (25,917,806)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HE2 MU~ (5518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that RIEBRERTE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in B LD
subsequent periods: HEE2E Kz~ (F#R) .
Changes in fair value of equity investments EEARANEE
designated at fair value through other FAREZAEREZ
comprehensive income BAREEZ
RAEEEF (5,105,423) 5,463,369
Exchange differences on translation of the MBERAT M FEHREK
Company’s financial statements FrEGEZEREEE 5,908,467 12,115,901
803,044 17,579,270
Other comprehensive income/(loss)that may 1% & HE T 20
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ~— BE D IEAIEH
periods: EE2EKam -~ (£548) .
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal HE—REWB AT
of a subsidiary BRzERHE (103,967) -
Exchange differences on translation of HMERB AR MBRER
subsidiaries’ financial statements FREEXZEREER 26,033,318 48,807,837
25,929,351 48,807,837
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME SEEHERZERE
FOR THE YEAR 26,732,395 66,387,107
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME SEEREW=LAEE
FOR THE YEAR 5,057,627 40,469,301
continued / ...
B\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

iR H R ENER

Year ended 31 March 2022 & Z20224E3531 H IFE/E

2022 2021
Note HK$ HK$
fis BT BT
Loss/(profit) for the year attributable to: FEIEAREERE CaFl) :
Owners of the parent ISYNCILCES] (19,771,106) (27,142,070)
Non-controlling interests JEEER S (1,903,662) 1,224,264
(21,674,768)  (25,917,806)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FELE2EE (B518)
attributable to: 4a%E -
Owners of the parent BATKRER 5,635,846 36,727,015
Non-controlling interests JEEER R (578,219) 3,742,286
5,057,627 40,469,301
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAGEEEDR HK cent HK cent
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE HEARLESREE Al Al
PARENT
Basic and diluted BEXRIEE 13 (0.92) (1.26)

| 2245 2022 JGH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEEIRR

At 31 March 2022 ¢ 20224 35 31H

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
B sE BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JETRENE =
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRZE 14 382,492,278 324,350,054
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 50,592,779 53,428,596
Goodwill HE 16 106,213,773 103,269,153
Other intangible assets HegFEE 17 21,937,188 27,784,868
Deposits & 21 23,702,454 11,345,519
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARARER
through other comprehensive income SFAEEZEREZ
R E 18 1,766,962 6,872,385
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 586,705,434 527,050,575
CURRENT ASSETS TRENEE
Inventories 75 19 74,894,274 64,392,952
Trade and bills receivables FE Wi B 70 e FE R ZE 4% 20 141,743,768 145,208,965
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ F& {3 FIE
BEREERKR 21 12,223,015 14,049,661
Structured deposits ERMEER 22 14,583,400 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEIER 23 334,001,475 234,984,677
577,445,932 458,636,255
Assets of a disposal group classified DEAFEREZ
as held for sale HEANZEE 1 - 147,774,161
Total current assets MEBEEMEE 577,445,932 606,410,416
CURRENT LIABILITIES piird 2 R=R -]
Trade payables RN 24 105,174,107 87,911,627
Other payables and accruals HEe BRI RETER 25 95,443,695 81,127,855
Interest-bearing bank borrowings stEIRITEN 26 57,258,840 18,894,201
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 4,602,712 4,177,767
Due to a fellow subsidiary R —REAKMBATRE  34(0) 4,935,990 3,628,289
Tax payable FEF#RIE 4,243,309 3,731,131
271,658,653 199,470,870
Liabilities directly associated with the assets B2 BARFEHE >
classified as held for sale EEHEZEEHZEE 1 - 14,763,580
Total current liabilities mENEEEEE 271,658,653 214,234,450
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFRE 305,787,279 392,175,966
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERRENARE
LIABILITIES 892,492,713 919,226,541
continued / ...
=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ErETIRR

At 31 March 2022 ¢ 20224F 35 31H

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
FsE BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITEM 26 90,634,555 110,804,078
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 7,936,798 11,653,956
Deferred income IRIEU A 194,037 303,734
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 27 4,652,084 5,970,009
Total non-current liabilities ERENEBELEEE 103,417,474 128,731,777
NET ASSETS BEFE 789,075,239 790,494,764
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATKRREGLER
Share capital f% 7z 28 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves H#E 29 541,750,065 541,704,328
756,754,253 756,708,516
Non-controlling interests JEEER D 32,320,986 33,786,248
TOTAL EQUITY Wi %E 789,075,239 790,494,764
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
T axX4*E
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITEE

B 63
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IF EE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARRRG
Capital Far - Exchange Non-
Share confribution Special ~ Statutory value  fluctuation ~ Refained controlling Total
capial TeSeIVe Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
BT DREE  ERES ik
i i BHRE EERE i fF REE kg BE e
HKS HKS HKS HKS HS HS HKS HKS HKS HKS
A A A A A A A A A A
A1 Aprl 2020 RonEAA 215,004,188 8950307 340016 074659 (103560 (RULMBM)  MMIM2®  TATIESSS 98628 759760768
Loss forthe year KEEFR - - - - - - [AR)0) A24B (BSHTRE)
Otercompreensive oome o e year: ~ AEEHE2ENE :
Changes in i velus of eqiy inesimen's SR EARAAEE
esignatd a fir vl trough oher HAHCRENEZ
comprehensie ncome RrkEAnERED - B YRR - YR - B
Eichange dferences on ransleonof A B R
fancial satements FEEZERER - - - R4 - BAGTIE 25802 60987
Tola comprehensie income for e year ~~ AEE2ENELE - - - BARNY SABTIE (0D BImOB AT A4
Transer torese BETRE - 1520 - - (1) - - -
Firl 100 decs dedred ESIERERS - - - ) s ]
Didend peid onon-conkolingneres's ~ EFfFEREEZRE - - - - - - - By (%)
NIl M0t A RIEVENER
ANEABIA 215,004,168 00307 SAS0016"  S0BGITOT (ABS22SY  (BTeGAS) 1BL50004°  THETORATE 33706248 TODA9ATA
Lssfor e e FEEER - - - - - TV (BT (SO IS
Othr comprehensie noome or e year.~ AEERT2ENE
Changes inar velue of eqiyimesiments S EARAABE
esignated at i vae through oter HARE2ENE,
comprehensie ncome RrkEAnEEED - - - - [0545) - - (5054 - (B0541)
Release of exchange esenve upon REE-BRBARE
disposal o a susidry BHERRR - - - - (03 - (0 - (03
Eichange dferences on ranslefonof BB R
financial satements FEEZERER - - - - R [ KH - NHEM AR HTES
Totlcomrehensive comefor heyear — AEEREREEE - - - (04 NSRNE (TG SEEME (829 506N
Capial conbuton fom noncontoling~~ FEFRRRER S
nferests - - - - - - - - 100000 100000
Transfer o resere B - - 1078 - - (1078) - - -
R 20 e e ESIERERE - , ; - - OBEM S S
Divdend e o roncontlingmerests B EERERZRE - - - - - - - S e
At31 March 2022 RungByE 215,004,188 G030 460016 0862869  (.09TA%6)  (32540T0) S5ER962*  TEGTSAZ5S  S2320086 780075250
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * LHERERESREMBRRARANESHE

HK$541,750,065 (2021: HK$541,704,328) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

541,750,065 75 (20214F : 541,704,328 7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBIERER

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
M3 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ RBEEBIFRSRERE
Loss before tax PRI RIS (28,017,524) (27,441,560)
Adjustments for: FTYREERZFE .
Finance costs =127 7 725,235 569,351
Interest income FIEWA 5 (2,303,285) (3,234,319)
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, plant HE MEYE
and equipment R BB K 2%t 2 5 48 5 75,877 74,027
Impairment of goodwill HERE 5 1,576,811 -
Gain on termination of leases HE&IEZ W 5 - (51,906)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary, net HE—FRB AN
PER 31 (12,101,308) -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of financial ~ SRBEEZ
assets, net HE/ (BERHE)  PE 6 451,135 (28,930)
Fair value losses/(gains), net; AREEER ()
BEE
Derivative instruments - transactions not TEIR-
qualifying as hedges FREHNERZRS 5 342,888 85,782
Structured deposits EREER 5 (668,227) (1,260,982)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERZEINE 6 9,631,485 8,971,827
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6 5,566,793 5,756,557
Amortisation of other intangible assets HeBREE#HE 6 6,951,401 5,889,481
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value iR 77 & E rl 8173 E 6 756,000 -
Recognition of government grants SO T4 B (121,293) (114,402)
(17,134,012)  (10,785,074)
Increase in inventories FEEm (8,677,058) (11,386,006)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables ~ FEURBR TR K FEUR E 45
mL, (48 0) 9,078,386 (45,100,825)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and AT MIE
other receivables & RET RN (9,526,263) (7,966,715)
Increase in trade payables FE {5 BR TR IE 10 13,411,077 55,159,715
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and HEeRBMHKESER
accruals @m, Ge) 14,002,670 (16,328,791)
Increase in an amount due to a fellow subsidiary ~ FE{S— R & M B /A B FIEE A0 1,142,335 2,908,991
Cash from/(used in) operations mEmE/ (A Be 2,297,135 (33,498,705)
PRC taxes paid B RERE (9,797,490) (3,566,765)
Interest paid BFE (725,235) (569,351)
Net cash flows used in operating activities RETEMAZREREFE (8,225,590) (37,634,821)
continued / ...
B/ .

| 7275 2022 WG
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBERER

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5E AT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES & EEBIFRSRERE
Interest received B & 2,303,285 3,234,319
Capitalised portion of interest paid BEFENEREEHS (7,299,939) (3,298,019)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME
plant and equipment R EEE ZMEWIE 29,205 3,387
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—BIE AR ZHREMRE 31 151,897,562 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BENME BEKRSE (46,458,211)  (142,385,184)
Additions to other intangible assets REHECEVEE - (765,795)
Additions to equity investments designated at fair  FREBEISE BB A ABE
value through other comprehensive income STAHEZ2ENEZRAKRE - (102,496)
Proceeds from maturity of derivative instruments 74 T B ZIHAFR B F0IE 90,665,498 37,262,060
Investments in derivative instruments RITETAEZRE (91,021,750) (37,058,013)
Proceeds from structured deposits REEBMERZERIE 221,906,897 231,787,599
Investments in structured deposits REBUERZRE (235,672,552)  (226,410,393)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 38 & EENFR1E ./ (FT )
ZHEREFH 86,349,995 (137,732,535)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ R ;EBIFRBRENE
Dividends paid ERRE (8,557,172) (2,527 ,560)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENFEREGZZER (987,043) (6,942,271)
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests FEERERTE 100,000 -
New bank loans WERITER 33,458,425 110,607,339
Repayment of bank loans BERITEM (20,881,825) (5,720,110)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEER (4,427,333) (4,664,232)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities ~ BAE & E) (FRF) /Frf8
THEREDE (1,204,048) 90,753,166
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERREEEHER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS g, GR2b) B8 76,829,457 (84,614,190)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ MENZREKRREEEHIER 248,247,441 311,962,660
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEXES 22 (F58) 8,924,577 20,898,971
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELZRERREFHEER
AT END OF YEAR 334,001,475 248,247 441
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERREEERBGERZIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REFRRRINEREZ
statement of financial position HeRPLZEER 23 334001475 234,984,677
Cash and short-term deposits attributable to a HEMARREZIRE
disposal group K IGEAER 11 - 13,262,764
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RIEERERIEZ
statement of cash flows RERREEEEE 334,001,475 248,247 441
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) were involved in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and
healthcare products and wholesale of Chinese herbal medicines,
traditional Chinese medicine decoction pieces, Chinese medicines
and the provision of Chinese medical services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

REIREEER

AREEFRAR (‘KAT) &
RHEEHEFMMIZERRAE > H
BRIHREBHMERZFABRAE (‘B
XA £ o "AT Z MR E R
#2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

ER > FRBKREMBAR (‘X
EE)RFBE - EYHRKRFREE
m2Z M EEKRHEE > PEM - F
B R R P BRI HE B MU iR (P B AR
£ o

EFRR > FABNEERERA
BINRBERABARAKEBRBRA
8 (REBEMAILEIMABRAT) o

ERMBARZER
TRABETEMB AT ZE R

follows: T
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&17
SR, LiEk/ TATEL
28 SRR AR E R AMEx EEEAL TERH
Direct Indirect
E# i
Yunnan Meng Sheng People’s Republic RMB36,000,000 - 55 Research and
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd." of China (‘PRC’)/ A E36,000,0007T development,

ERBLRERRAR Mainland China manufacture and sale of
FEAREME pharmaceutical and

(‘HRED") /PEIARRE biotechnology products

BEDEYREER

ZHRZE B

SERBE

ESEE 67



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

1.

608 ESEEEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBEH @
ERAMBATIZER (@)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&1T
ML, EiEk/ AT
a8 SR R R HAMES EZERL IEXRH
Direct Indirect
E# f#

Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/Mainland RMB113,000,000 - 100 Research and
(Zhuhai) Limited* China A R #113,000,0007T development,
RREXE (BKE) BRAF FE PEARE manufacture and
sale of pharmaceutical and

biotechnology products

BERLYBKREM

PATETN L

TERBE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Australia AUD1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale
(Australia) Pty Limited BAF R 1,000,00038 7¢ and distribution of
RABEE (RAFE) BRAT healthcare products

REEmZITH

HERDH

Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/Mainland HK$50,000,000 - 100 Research and
(China) Limited* China 50,000,000 7T development of
RAEZE (FE) BRAF" FE REARE pharmaceutical
products,

provision of intra-

group consulting

services and marketing,

sale and distribution

of healthcare products

BEELZARAR

% REEBRANE

AR M R AR 2

EmZITiH

HERDH




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

1.

Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REREEEH @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARZER (@
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BT
M LiEk TAF L
21 M R AT E A B AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
EiE ifE
Tianda Chinese Medicine PRC/Mainland RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Wholesale of
(China) Ltd.* China RMB50,000,000 Chinese herbal
RRPBE (hE) FRAE" hE/hEARE  AR30,0000005T, medicines,
A EE#50,000,0007% traditional Chinese
medicine decoction
pieces and
Chinese medicines
M BB R
KRB %
Zhuhai Tianda Processed PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000/ - 100 Production and
Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd.” China RMB10,000,000 sale of traditional
KERKPERRBRAR FE/FEAE A R10,000,0007T,/ Chinese medicine
A E#10,000,0007 decoction pieces and
trading of agricultural
by-products
FERREE
RIFE MUK
REERNES
TDMall (China) Limited? PRC/Mainland RMB18,500,000/ - 100 Investment holding
ARG (PE) BRAE China RMB100,000,000 REER
dE/ EARE  ARE185000007T,
A E#100,000,0007T
TDMall (Zhuhai) Limited? PRC/Mainland RMB12,240,000/ - 100 Provision of
KBRKEERAT China RMB100,000,000 traditional Chinese
FEREAE A R122400007,/ medicine clinical
A EE#100,000,0007T services and sale

of Chinese medicine
products

R BRE
REEREER

| 775 2022 JQIY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. 2AFRKREEEH @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EHRMBARZER @)
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BT
s EiEk/ AT
a8 MRS E A HEfEx Emaatt TEER
Direct Indirect
E# f#

TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of
KA (BH) BRAT B 10,00037¢ traditional Chinese
medicine clinical
services and sale
of Chinese medicine
products
R BRS
RFEREER

¥ Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law ’ REREERER I EBEERE

70 EEEEEEEE

# Incorporated as a cooperative enterprise

A A limited liability company established under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

i I ASERE
A REBFEERBIINAERAR

ERIHEERAHEREELE
BXRAETEXENEBREEREE
FEIEHOHNEIBTMEBATR - E
ERR/RECHBABZENIIHE
LTRIBBRITR -




Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
structured deposits which have been measured at fair value. The
disposal group held for sale is stated at the lower of its carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell as further explained in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

21

ZEMBHRRDIRBEE B G
NERHZEBMBREER (BFE2
BEBMHZRSER - FEBGHER]
K2 REBAREHEIRES
DNEMRPIBIIR B ERK - ZFHH
BREBEEMAEZRN > EIRES
BAnBESFAREZEREZRA
REREBEERRANEENE -
REFLEZHERBREREERER
AEERHEREZBREETR (0
B SRR MY EE2.4FIE— P EREA) © =%
EMBREUBTEY -

ITEEE

REMBERREESQATREKN
BABEZE202E3IAMBILEEEZE
BHRKR  -MEBRBALRLATEIZESNME
BEGIZER (BIEEEMER) -8
AEBRHSHEKERRERNZHE
ARG ZFENUKREZAY
KREHZRZED A ERER TR
BRENDUTEREHRABRZESH ZEE
FHER)) L EZERIERE - BIES IS
o

S 71



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

2.1

7?2 EEEEEEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

21

RBEZE @)

HEEE®

HARBEHZHBEER DN
REHRKRZHUIRF B LR AE
Mo A AEERFEERSHEAHR
BERRZENHEEE—EMEE
RIER > B

(a) EREHFHEEREFAEAZE
BWLHE

b)) HEaNZHMEEZEN; &
() TEBZRERKREBEERERE-

B ARNMBRRDBERER
B EE AR S HARE R — B S 5 R
REMM - MEBLARDZEEBERER
DR EHEEAEFRAEAR  EEZ
TREFIRERIESLE -

BmkHEZE WD 2 ZHEMER
DERBRAERZATRRKIFER
o BIEIE 23 5| B R IR R m A B
LB - FRESEERASREZE
EREE - #Em WA~ A< UKRE
FEBRERRAZEARZERZEE
MEBENGEGRERTHEHE -

HEBRBELERLXWEAE
BT BERAFT M = TR EGIEE P —IR
WZIALIFEE  AEEGEHFE
HEDMAERRENR  HitHB
AENEAEED B E I R AT
B RIEEEXH AR

HAEEREH—FHRBATZ
EHIRE AR IEESI()ZMB AR Z
BE (BEBE) R&E; (ERIFHE
AR Z BREME 5 Re(iil) i #i i P9 5C B%
ZRHERERR > WHEB()EWRKE
ZRREE; (IFMFREERKREZA
REE; R(iEaRERELEEEZ
BERSELM - RN ECEEB =N
Rz AEEELE M AIREAER
BERHEEMEENBGEMREEZE
EREESHMOB/ERDREEF (0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 Bt HERIFZEE

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs FEERAFEZHMBRRER

for the first time for the current year's consolidated financial R T O RMESTE B FERELER o

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark ERMBREENESR . FEEE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2 ERERELIEREE HE-
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 ERMBRSENEIR . F_ER

ERUBERSER
BARREBMBRELER
F165% 21857
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent ERMBEREEL 202165307
Concessions beyond F165% 2 BT Z##92019
30 June 2021 TREER
WL ES

B 73



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

2.2 CHANGES

(continued)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

The amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not
dealt with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (‘RFR”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide
a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments
require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand
the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.

2.2

B BERRNESEE @

KIETEBMHFREENNME
AL

(a)

BERMBRSERFEN
BB EREIRF
AMBREEREE &
AMBRESERBIRKRE
AU BREENFIGRZ
EEIRBEAMNREERKA
BEAERRHNE (MREAR
FI=R ) BB RIR T ATE
SIRREEEEEMBHR
HZHE A FETIRM
—EHERAITEER A
AHFHEEEREERE
BzaMREREZEE
SEET O RIEREN
BERMNEXMERABESH
BEEKREGEZIREE A
REEHEH AT REE
MEZHERRBEBEES
NE T REBOVHEERE
BLERREZEHAH
SRl B o IESh > ZFAE
SIRASFMEAEEEREB K
BN EH R RERED
EFFEXRNEH MAE
AR EHHRERR o B K HA R
A AEEE N EMWR RS
BIBBEEBMBTREE
RISEOSRRIE R R EEITE
2 UHEREDEHE
Mt ZFEETTAERE
REERER  RERR
M R4 TE 23 B BR X 17 B
B 78 2 A B | Bl 2 AR
EeZREAFERINIE
EHPREBEEmEN]E
BEAZRE  EEREA
CEESCEEEEN R
R A7 1S 5 3R2418 B 73 1§ 7]
BRI ZFE
SIERERARBERINE
K U B IR REIER
ERES T RA KRBT
HERENEMITARRRE
EEREHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(@)

(continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) based
on the China Loan Prime Rate (“China LPR”) as at
31 March 2022. Since the interest rates of these
borrowings were not replaced by RFRs during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group.
If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced
by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply
the above-mentioned practical expedient upon the
modification of these borrowings provided that the
“economically equivalent” criterion is met.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. The Group has not received
covid-19-related rent concessions and plans to apply
the practical expedient when it becomes applicable
within the allowed period of application.

2.2

BRI BRRNEEE @

(@)

(&)

122022438318 » &~ &
BETUARKEERES
BEERHISHRERNZE (TH
BEERHBRERNZE]) 5
EHRITER BHRZEE
RN ERSEERE
8 B b A R FT AR 0 B
Z A& BT b % ¥ A 5 [ B9 B
B R RRBERTAF
BoWzERANMER
IR 2% HA ] 4% 2 & B 7 22 EY
o AIRERFZRFE T
EEEIEERNERZE
EREBERLRAITHER
25t e

R2021FE4B M E B
75 3R 5 2E B 51657 2 18 5T
1 AR A B AR E201978 K
FERERERENRE
SHEEREBHEEEE]
EHREZATERE ZE
By A i {55 AR EA R EE R 1218
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AEAREMAEEE R
g7 B R f 52022468
0HHZ AT RIHAM S BV 1B
Mo EREERIITHE
B2 Z2EEEH - ZE
TE2021FE4B 1B 2 &R
WBHFEEHRUERAS R
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FRRFAFEEUHERF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28 (2011)
HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKFRS 17
Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts?®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current? 4
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract'

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
Illustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

HER

23 BEGERHRERZERMHER

KREBMI KRN ZFMBFHRRPE
ALLT B BB I8 R E R Z /5] R A

EIERMBRS

EEHBREEAE
2087

#8) o

BEY BN

BEMBRERAEOE KEZRANEL A
REBGHEAENSE AELEEHEELE
(015) 25T EE

ERUBRSEAESE RESA

%g%ﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬂ%w%ﬁ AP

ERUBRERARR EALAEENBHE
A 4| EHIEITRRE AN

{iﬁgﬁﬂ%’%—tm

EEGHRABRZET BESEANGEREY

N . FraaR

BEOHENSRREE B HEIRE
BBREEABH BN
E0f 2 el o

EREHEAESR 2B B AHEE

BRGHEABSE, E-REELHNEER
&1 BEHRELRE

BAGHRAH6% WE BERXfE . [
pA ) EAREIR R

BRGHRAENR  BEERH-ETANH
2T iz

ERYBREEANBE  BEUBRSENEER
ENNEEH BAY RS EAE
ZEENE 5 BEBHREEL

F165 MM 2SRRI T

BB & 5t R H41
A

! 12022F 1 B1E R Z BBV FERHE

£

2 F2023F 1 BB 2 BB FEHAM

£

’ 55 766 O SR Y 25 2% B BB AT R4

HREBEHERSERZET 1
2020F10B1ER] T BB R B ESRH
REBZH—EXANH O SEFEL
1R BI ERIE 7089 7 45 » LAEAE FEFE
AR —RMmERAE

FFL20205F 10 A AR B B R G2
AISE17SR 2185 » BEMBRELNE
ASRINTFAERT > MIERERIFSA R E »
RFFRBATN2023F1 F1H Z AR
NWEEHRRAEB G5 £ 53058
MARERMBREERIFR

76 EESEEEEEE



Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June
2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by
these amendments on the date of transition.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that
if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall
be applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an
entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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23 |ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are
as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain bills receivable, structured
deposits and equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3~ based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, and non-current assets/a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

2.4
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 33.3% or over the lease
terms, whichever rate is higher

Plant and machinery 5% to 10%
Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets classified
as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.
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(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms of

47 to 50 years
Clinics, offices and warehouses ~ Over the lease terms of
3 to 5 years

Leasehold land

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

2.4
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (‘EIR”) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes bills receivable, derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHEHE @
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets EMEEZRE

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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10 ESEEEEERSE

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHEHE @
(continued)
Financial liabilities ERaE
Initial recognition and measurement BEXEZARE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Inventories =5

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

17 EEEEEEERE

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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14 ESEEEEERE

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and
Chinese medicine products
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
healthcare and Chinese medicine products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine products.

(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services

Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Customer membership program

The Group operates a customer membership program
which entitles customers to use the credit on future consultation
of Chinese medical services and purchases of Chinese
medicines. No expiry dates are attached to the extra credits.
The obligation to provide the right to the customer is therefore a
separate performance obligation.

The transaction price is allocated between the provision
of Chinese medical services and extra credits on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of
each extra credit is estimated based on the right to be given when
the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.

A contract liability is recognised for the unexercised rights
relating to the membership program at the time of the initial
sales transaction. Revenue from the membership program is
recognised when the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.
Revenue for extra credits that are not expected to be redeemed is
recognised in the proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by
the customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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100 IESEEEEERE

(continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHFEHE @
(continued)
Foreign currencies Shg

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency, Renminbi
(‘RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HK$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

108 I ESEEEEEPE

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the HK$. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

5hs (@)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2022 was
HK$106,213,773 (2021: HK$103,269,153). Further details are set
out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit using key assumptions such as
forecasted growth rates and budgeted gross margins and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
other than goodwill are set out in notes 14, 15 and 17 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The measurement of expected credit losses under
HKFRS 9 on trade and other receivables requires judgements,
in particular, for the estimations of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining impairment losses, and
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk for other
receivables. These estimates are affected by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different allowance amounts.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The
significant estimates involved in the determination of the inputs
applied in the ECL models include: the Group’s internal credit
grading, which assigns probabilities of default to the individual
grades; the segmentation of trade receivables based on risk
characteristics of the customers; development of ECL models,
including the various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of loss given default of the credit exposures;
determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default; and selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.
It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary. Further details of the ECL provision for trade and
other receivables are set out in notes 20 and 21 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM’),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance, focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered, being the Chinese medicine business, pharmaceuticals
and medical technologies business and medical and healthcare
services. The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. In addition, the
CODM monitors the Group's assets and liabilities as a whole, and
accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted loss/profit before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s loss/profit before tax except that the allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are
excluded from such measurement.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

2022

4. REQFEBEHE @

2022

Pharmaceuticals

Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine  technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hERE EYNRE BEM
£ B RIEART st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT AT AT
Segment revenue: DEPUIA :
Sales to external customers BB ERIHE 106,491,421 396,112,892 7,350,732 509,955,045
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 1,056,361 388,446 = 1,445,307
107,548,282 396,501,338 7,350,732 511,400,352
Reconciliation: Efi 3
Elimination of intersegment sales {8543 2RS4 & (1,445,307)
Revenue WA 509,955,045
Segment results DL (4979104)  (10984,628)  (10,349,920)  (26,313,661)
Reconciliation: Efi 3
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—/M
MEBABZ W 12,101,308
Other income, gains and losses, net EHEWRA « Uiz
RE1RF4E 2,047,484
Corporate and other unallocated tERHEE
expenses b (15,852,655)
Loss before tax PRIZAIES 1B (28,017,524)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RKEFHBEH @
2022 (continued) 2022 (48)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
hRE BNMnNBE BEM
E3] REES iR FAE at
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
B B B B Br
Other segment information: HERBEH !
Interest income FEKRA 8,415 355,937 6,355 1,932,578 2,303,285
Impairment of goodwill BENE = 1,576,811 = = 1,576,811
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 871,875 15,365,487 1,722,114 4,190,203 22,149,679
Finance costs HERE - - 59,894 665,341 725,235
Capital expenditure® BAEY 1,335,698 51,882,375 1,632,389 42,808 54,893,270
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * BEARZEEYE BRERZEUR
equipment and right-of-use assets. FHREESEZRE °
2021 2021
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hEZE EYNEE BEH ‘
E 3 B EH AR HEt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Segment revenue: SEYA
Sales to external customers mNRERIHE 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Intersegment sales 2 ERFE 8 & 618,297 402,664 - 1,020,961
112,614,845 358,056,708 4,681,519 475,353,072
Reconciliation: AR
Elimination of intersegment sales &85 D SpRISHE (1,020,961)
Revenue WA 474,332 111
Segment results DEREE (3,083,486) (113,866) (6,364,109) (9,561,461)
Reconciliation: AR
Other income, gains and losses, net EEMA -~
WK E51R R 4R 2,803,015
Corporate and other unallocated tERHEEX
expenses DECHX (20,683,114)
Loss before tax PRIZAIES IR (27,441,560)
RAEEFRAF
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 RBEFHEHE®
2021 (continued) 2021 (48)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
mEE  BEYMBRE BEM
2% EE S REEIRT RO fst
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT B AT BT
Other segment information: ~ EE A& :
Interest income FIEBA 17,540 631,158 8,884 2,576,737 3,234,319
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7 2 Rz 54 861,769 13,686,381 1,315,255 4,754 460 20,617,865
Finance costs R E R 38,982 - 1,869 528,500 569,351
Capital expenditure® BARY 57,239 146,271,020 120,079 17,191,837 163,640,175
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * EAMZEEYE BRERSHE F
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets. AREEUKRECERLEEZRE °
Geographical information 3hig &
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIIFERZHKA
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Mainland China e 505,953,256 472,388,176
Hong Kong & 3,635,842 1,569,619
Australia TR A FI 58 365,947 374,316

509,955,045 474,332,111

The revenue information of operations above is based on U EEEZWAERURRRE
the locations of the customers. A B o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

REJEBEFE @

iR E R (8
b) FHRBEE

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mainland China i [57] oK P 569,939,130 503,234,518
Hong Kong and Macau EHBREM 14,983,335 16,927,278
Australia ply I 16,007 16,394

584,938,472 520,178,190

The non-current assets information of operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
revenue from any single customer accounted for 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.

UEEEBZIERBEEERUE
EFfEMAELE > BREEEEAR
ARBEFAERCZEREZRER
Bo

EREXEERZEH

8 E2022F K2021E3R3M1A L E
B @Kk EA—BFLHNWKRAMN
EBUTA10%E A E o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5 A - HEWA ~ W KkESEREE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRABAZAHWT :
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHIRA
Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology THEEBRZE ~
and healthcare products EYRE R R EES 396,112,892 357,654,044
Sale of Chinese medicine products HETBEER 110,189,203 114,461,086
Provision of Chinese medical services A B AR 3,652,950 2,216,981
509,955,045 474,332,111
Revenue from contracts with customers EREAHWA
()  Disaggregated revenue information (i) HBPHFZHAEH
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEF20225383MBALEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine  technologies healthcare
Segments 2ER business business services Total
MM
BERE BEM
BB % {RERRT st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT ET BT B
Types of goods or services S REERN
Sale of products HEGM 106,491,421 396,112,892 3,697,782 506,302,095
Chinese medical services HE R - - 3,652,950 3,652,950
Total revenue from contracts with ~ BB SN A 4E%E
customers 106,491,421 396,112,892 7,350,732 509,955,045
Geographical markets g 4
Mainland China FRE AR 106,491,421 395,449,777 4,012,058 505,953,256
Hong Kong &4 - 507,997 3,127,845 3,635,842
Australia BAF R - 155,118 210,829 365,947
Total revenue from contracts with ~ BB S A 4E5E
customers 106,491,421 396,112,892 7,350,732 509,955,045
Timing of revenue recognition ATz BRI
Goods transferred at a point in time 1 SRS EIBY &5 5 106491421 396,112,892 3607782 506,302,095
Services rendered over time R — BRI 2 R - - 3,652,950 3,652,950
Total revenue from contracts with ~ X B &L ALEEE
customers 106,491,421 396,112,892 7,350,732 509,955,045
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5.

(continued)

(i)

WA~ HEWA ~ W RiESEFEHE

(#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EBREHWA &)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) HRHWZKAEH &)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE2021F3BMBHLEFE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments ik business business services Total
&l
BERR BE
HBELE % NRRRE st
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Types of goods or services AmARBER
Sale of products HEEM 111,996,548 357,654,044 2,464,538 472,115,130
Chinese medical services hERE - - 2,216,981 2,216,981
Total revenue from contracts with customers % B & 47U A 4848 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Geographical markets HigmE
Mainland China FEARE 111,996,548 356,314,612 3,577,016 472,388,176
Hong Kong 58 - 503,348 1,066,271 1,569,619
Australia BAFE - 336,084 38,232 314316
Total revenue from contracts with customers % B & 47U A 4848 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Timing of revenue recognition ARz Bt
Goods transferred at a point in time REREER 2GR 111,996 548 357,654,044 2,464,538 472,115,130
Services rendered over time R-BREBREZRS - - 2,216,981 2,216,981
Total revenue from contracts with customers % B & 47U A 4848 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included in

TRETRARSHEREIME
SAARSHTIZENREMERRZ

the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: WAEEE :
2022 2021
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue recognised that was included ~ Bst AZREEAIZ
in contract liabilities at the beginning 54 %ﬁZEEEEE WA -
of the reporting period:
Sale of products and provision of HE SR RIEHERERY
medical services 11,720,193 6,311,847
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii)  Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and

Chinese medicine products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese
medicine products and payment is generally due within 60 to 180
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required.

Provision of Chinese medical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
customer acceptance.

An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as
follows:

WA - HEWA - Wi R A518FEE
(4%8)

ERAHWA (@)

(ii) HIE (T
EREAEEBNSTZE R
wr:

HEBZE LRI~ RIERF

B E

BHEENRRABE - £YH
ERERTFEBEEMRER > BN
— AR A B HARE 560 F 180K A Bl
HA > MR R —ARZATAITRIE ©

tE B IR 7S
RHBE AN IR MRS R RERS R i
Bl RIB—MRINE R EAR AT

BERHECWA ~ REkEIEFHR
ZoRME

2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
i #IT BT
Other income HEeIlWA

Bank interest income RITFE A 2,303,285 3,234,319
Government subsidies* B & B 2,069,990 3,153,831
Others = 586,881 444,898
4,960,156 6,833,048

Gains and losses, net W K518 558

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Fair value (losses)/gains, net:
Derivative instruments — transactions 74 T B —
not qualifying as hedges
Structured deposits
Foreign exchange differences, net

RERBIEER
SMNEZEER 0 SFER

Loss on disposal/write-off of property, H%E /HisH¥ %

plant and equipment & BB R 55 e 2 B5 18
Gain on termination of leases HE&IEZ WS
Impairment of goodwill EERE

HE—FME Rz 31 12,101,308 -
AREE (BR) WEFER

TREHNPERZRS (342,888) (85,782)

668,227 1,260,982
1,070,944 (495,573)

(75,877) (74,027)
- 51,906
16 (1,576,811) -

16,805,059 7,490,554

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants.

* R R U A B 2 1A R AR
GHIBEFE-
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

PRIZAIAS IR

FEBZRRATBERENEG

(crediting): (BstA) -
2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5% B BT
Cost of inventories sold** BEFEZME 267,976,420 215,344,576
Depreciation of property, plantand  ¥1% ~ BiRE KRR EITE
equipment 14 9,631,485 8,971,827
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fﬁﬁﬁ’féﬁfkﬁ% 15 5,566,793 5,756,557
Amortisation of other intangible CEFEERHE
assets 17 6,951,401 5,889,481
Write-down of inventories to net WREEEEIRFE
realisable value** 756,000 -
Research and development costs ~ BF &% Bl 4 15,858,862 11,825,920
Lease payments not included inthe WA BIFEHEEGR/IEZ
measurement of lease liabilities GEN=RNEN 15 1,402,593 1,197,831
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEn B = 2,136,830 2,042,511
Employee benefit expenses EERFHXZ (B
(including directors’ and chief BEERIETHAER
executive’s remuneration <& (Fz¥8)) -
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries TEREM 65,004,725 61,058,347
Pension scheme contributions* BIREETE H R 8,106,593 3,508,660
73,111,318 64,567,007
Impairment of financial assets, net: £ FE EMEFEE :
Impairment/(reversal of & Wi BR 0 e FE LR R 4
impairment) of trade WE (BERE) -
and bills receivables, net FEE 20 435,780 (48,359)
Impairment of financial assets 5t A FE{¢FRIE
included in prepayments, RERHEERRBRRZ
deposits and other TREBEEMRE > PR
receivables, net 21 15,355 19,429
451,135 (28,930)

* During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no
forfeited contributions under the retirement benefits scheme utilised to
reduce the existing levels of contributions. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, the Group had no material forfeited contributions available to
reduce the contributions in the future.

The balance is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

*k

B £2022F KR2021E3B3MBH L FE »
A& AR R IR KRR St B U (it
R B ERERA HRKTF o 122022
FR0MEI[/MBA AEFLEEEKX
R B RINE MR A -

BRI AGRSIRE RO THERAE] -
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7.

FINANCE COSTS 7. FAERA

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAZ SN :
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 7,299,939 3,298,019
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZIE 725,235 569,351
Total interest expense FER X 48%8 8,025,174 3,867,370
Less: Interest capitalised B BEREZFE (7,299,939) (3,298,019)
725,235 569,351

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. FEFTHASKESRME

Chief executive’s and directors’ remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

RiE EHRR - FBALBEGIE
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) B ()& A Bz A B (3]
BEFEMNEER) BEIBSINEAF
EZFETHABREEMEWT :

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Fees HE 449,032 492,000

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) WIIEBITES
FREBMFEILIFNTESEZE
FWTF :

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEELE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HEMMESE 72,000 72,000
216,000 216,000

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

FRILEBENFRIIFNITES

ZHEMS Q01E : &) o
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8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. FETHABREEME @
(continued)
(b) The chief executive, an executive director and non- (b) FETHAS - JITEFERIEH
executive directors TEE
Fees
ik
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Chief executive: FETHAE:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FXRERE 60,000 60,000
Executive director: HITEE .
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 72,000 72,000
Non-executive directors: JEHITESE :
Mr. Shen Bo W darias 72,000 72,000
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPRE - -
Dr. Lam Lee G (retired on MREBEL
26 August 2021) (74202148826 B 1B 1T) 29,032 72,000
101,032 144,000
Total directors’ remuneration EFEME4E%E 233,032 276,000

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

9. nREmEHMES

FALESEEREZTHAER
ERRBREEMME 2 28k -

The five highest paid employees during the year did not
include any director (2021: Nil), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the five (2021: five) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

FERAZRREHFNEEREIEE
fAIEE 2021F : |) > HM 7N
EXHizEs c ERER (2021F : AR)
WIAABEFTHEETHRAEZR
SHMNEEZMEEBNT

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

HIT BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N R REYFE 3,770,079 5,107,072
Performance-related bonuses BEMIEAL 89,167 96,987
Pension scheme contributions BIKEEHEIMHR 66,000 72,000
3,925,246 5,276,059
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 9. IBREEHMES @

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest B <& R A T AR R M IFEE K&
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following TEFETHAEBZESHMNEEZ
bands is as follows: AT

2022 2021
Nil to HK$1,000,000 51,000,000 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017%8 75 Z1,500,0007%8 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007% 7T - 1
5 5

INCOME TAX 10. FRiF#R

Tax on profits assessable in Mainland China has been
calculated at the applicable Mainland China corporate income
tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%), except for Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) Ltd. (“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)’), a subsidiary
of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is qualified as an
advanced technology enterprise and has obtained approvals from
the relevant tax authorities for a preferential tax rate of 15% for
a period of 3 years up to December 2022. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax and Australia income tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong and Australia during the year (2021: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

BRAEENB AT RKESE (3K
B BRAE ("RAKBEE (KE) )
b RPBEKERMERR AN B Z
RIE > hiRRERPEKERERE
TRIRZ25% (20214F : 25%) 518 o 1RiE
FRE 2 MBRARRIER 0 RAKEZE (3%
E) AT EER » ESHERE
RS R HL B R B B R F15%E R -
AH=F > EFE02F12A A1 - H
RAEEBEEALEBEESTEBEORKF
DESFMEZRREN » WL EER
EANEREBRAKFEMRSHES
(20214 : ) - HEMENERRE
MZRBEERAEBRESHER AR
B2 ERIMEE

2022 2021
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 B BT
Current BNHA
Charge for the year rEESH 1,361,339 2,050,463
Overprovision in prior years UNEFEEBRER (6,212,609) (1,739,182)
Withholding tax FENR
Charge for the year KEEZH 60,319 424,250
Deferred tax IRIETRIE 27 (1,551,805) (2,259,285)
Total tax credit for the year KEERIBIXRAREE (6,342,756) (1,523,754)
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10.  INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRIM &

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before UTARRAIBGEZRNESZH
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the majority (FRAEKXZIDHIE A EBRERE
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective BEZETMESE) BEERRE
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the AEZRESIHZHIE  UWKERR
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: REVEERER) BEMNREZHIK

2022 2021
HK$ % HK$ %
AT BT
Loss before tax PRIZAIES1E (28,017,524) (27,441,560)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REERE
HEYRE (7,004,381) 250  (6,:860,390) 25.0
Lower tax rate(s) enacted by 1t 75 1% A 18 4R
local authority ZBERE 961,181 (3.4) 1,173,181 4.3)
Effect of withholding tax on the REEHE
distributable profits of the HEE AT
Group’s PRC subsidiaries Al EF E E
RN o2 (23,154) - 71,558 (03)
Income not subject to tax BERRZBWA (3,553,576) 12.7 (1,533,164) 5.6
Expenses not deductible for tax Az 835,105 (3.0) 1,495,823 (5.4)
Tax losses utilised from previous BEFHEESAZ
periods HIaksE (81,210) 0.3 (157,166) 0.6
Tax losses not recognised KERZRNIERE 8,735,888 (31.2) 6,025,586 (22.0)
Adjustments in respect of current TR EATRIE R BN ER
tax of previous period {EH A% (6,212,609) 222 (1,739,182) 6.3
Tax credit at the Group’s RAEBZBERRE
effective rate HETRERS (6,342,756) 26  (1523754) 55

11. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 1.
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 22 February 2019, the Company announced the
decision of its board of directors to dispose of Zhuhai Tianda
Realty Limited (“Zhuhai Realty”). Zhuhai Realty engages
in property holding. The Group has decided to dispose of
the property because it will no longer have any operation in
Zhuhai Realty after the relocation of its existing research and
development (“R&D”) and production base to a new R&D and
production base in Jinwan District, Zhuhai, the PRC.

DEAFELEZLEHENZE
ERASEARKELEZEER
BEEMZzAaR

12019528220 » AT EM »
HEFGRAEHERBRRKEXAR
QB (HBEFR) - KBEEREY
EER -FEBBRELHEME
AHERRAE R REREMBEMN
PR EEE &M R REEM
B> KREBEEXERTBAEERNEE-
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1.

ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
signed the conditional disposal right agreement with Tianda
Group Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and being
the ultimate holding company of the Company. The triggering
conditions included (i) the Group proposed to relocate to new
R&D and production base; (ii) all approvals and permits from
the government authorities and consent from third parties,
if any, were obtained; and (iii) the Group has removed its
production lines from the existing R&D and production base. In
the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019, directors determined that the
sale was highly probable and Zhuhai Realty was available for
immediate sale. Based on the facts and circumstances as at 31
March 2019, directors expected the new R&D and production
base to be completed by the end of 2019. Consequently, Zhuhai
Realty had been classified as a disposal group held for sale and
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019. Details are disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 February 2019 and circular
dated 12 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the construction of the new R&D
and production base had not yet been completed due to delay in
construction and the outbreak of Covid-19 since December 2019.

As at 31 March 2021, the construction of the aforesaid
R&D and production base has been completed, and the Group
was applying for the required approvals and permits from the
government authorities in order to complete the disposal.

During the year, the transaction was completed on 29
March 2022.

11.

DEAFEHEZHEEANZE
ERESEABEHEZESER
EERZzaE®

201928228 » AT 2 EM
BARRAKEE (F8) BRATEX
AEBEERAE (MNEBFMBILA
B AXATRKIZRAT) BEEGK
HFHE#DE - BBREaIE ()&
BEZRBEINAE R BRI ; (i)
BESBFEBNFREHUERFFTU
RE=ZFHNEE (WB) ; Kki)dsEE
ERIREMBERNEEMBRALE
4 o ERBAEBE E2019F3831H8
ILEENGEEMERRFE  EEET
HESEABAEARE  BKBEXOH
U EITHEE - iRIEF20195E3831HME
BRIERN EETAHNMAERUER
18 FR2019F AT SE AL © UL » BRI
BEESBEAREHENHESR »
WHt2019E3 AN BE A IFR TR

BEEY - FBEENEAQATIBEEA
201928 22BN A& K HER 420195
JENEHBBERBPIRE o

72020438318 » B THAE:R
LA R2019E12 B MU ZRIE 352019 B i E 5
TRIE I o H B R B BE M Y R BRI
RFEM ©

FR2021F3831H » Liltpf 3 R &
BEMNERBET > MAEEER
ATt R ER s P SR L SC R 5F AT > BASE
PRHERIR -

RER > ZX5ER2022F3829
H5eR °
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1.

12 IS

ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 11. S #EAIFEHEZHEENZ2E

FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Zhuhai Realty
classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

ERESEABEHEZESER
EERZzEaE®

120213 BN BN BRI FHE
ZHRBEEZTBEREKRERER

T
2021
HK$
BT
Assets ={-3
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRE 67,216,825
Right-of-use assets EREEE 67,294,572
Cash and short-term deposits RERIEHER 13,262,764
Assets of a disposed group classified as held for sale D EAIFELHEZEBE 147,774,161
Liabilities afR
Accruals & 5t FR 18 (292,699)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEAE (14,470,881)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HOBEARKELE
classified as held for sale ZEEEREBERzEE (14,763,580)
Net assets directly associated with the disposal group £ E 4RI EIEH RS
ZEERE 133,010,581
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12.  DIVIDENDS 12. BB
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
B BT
Final — HK0.26 cents (2021: HK0.26 cent) FEAR B & A20.267 1L
per share (20214 © 0.2638A1L) 5,590,109 5,500,109
Special - HK0.56 cents (2021: Nil) per share 4% Bl % B & §0.5678 1L
(2021% : #®) 12,040,235 -
17,630,344 5,590,109
A final dividend of HK 0.26 cents per share amounting to ESEgEZME 202263831
HK$5,590,109 and special dividend of HK 0.56 cents per share H IEFEIk T RE R S S /0.2678 1L
amounting to HK$12,040,235 in respect of the year ended 31 REFRIRREESR6EWN  SEEH
March 2022 have been proposed by the directors and are subject 5,590,1097 7T 2 12,040,23578 75 » 7B &
to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general KRENEERRBFAE LHER
meeting. FRIEE -
13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY  13. BATRBBEREZFEARGSE
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 518
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based BREAGESEXRIRFAR
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent, and RELFEFERFREZETEER
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,150,041,884 0 #E 3 39 $12,150,041,8848% (20214 :
(2021: 2,150,041,884) in issue during the year. 2,150,041,884%) 5t & o
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
B BT
Loss attributable to owners of the parent, BRstEEREAREIE

used in basic loss per share calculation ZBARIRRELEE (19,771,106)

(27,142,070)

Number of shares

R {8 B
2022

2021

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in A st E SR EARE 2

issue during the year for the purposes of basic Z FE R BT iBER
loss per share calculation PTI98 2,150,041,884

2,150,041,884

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
BITEER-

REEMN B E2022F 2021438
MEIEFELRABTHENEZE
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14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% BER=E
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
i ffA
BF MERE HERHE RERZB RE ERIR EE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
A E AR A E A A
At1 April 2020, net of accumulated R0NER1R
depreciation NREsTE 18437423 1,059,843 23,627,556 9,151,700 1660803 115967253 169,904 578
Addtions HE 818,328 46,200 6,236,629 440,042 - 138142004 145,683,203
Depreciation provided during the year ERFERE (612,085) (204903 (5,021977)  (2,661,389) (375.473) - (89182
Disposalsfwite-0ff HE /i - - (62,986) (14,428) - - (717.414)
Transfer & 191,486 - 350,539 - - (642,025) -
Exchange realignment ERHE 1,548,601 - 2,011,887 671,170 93480 13486376 17,811,514
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021, RANEIRIBRANE
net of accumulated depreciation (BB MIREEHIE 20383753 811140 27,135,648 1,587,095 1378810 267,053,608 324,350,054
Addtions hE - 20,522 2,088,642 1,812,255 122957 49313774 53,758,150
Depreciation provided during the year ERTERRE (701.410) (327,660)  (5,533,630)  (2,798,19) (270,587) - (9,631.485)
Disposalshurite-off HE/HisH - - (25.621) (70.850) (8611) - (10508
Transfer &f A3 M2 - 87,063,53 894 586 - (301,370899) -
Exchange realignment ERER 3,065,979 - 2,016,249 304,623 44,106 8689484 14,120,641
At 31 March 2022 HR02E383A 236,161,004 704,002 112,944,823 17129711 1,266,675 23685973 362,492,278
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g fFR
BF WERE HERRE RERRH RE fREIR %
HKS HK$ HKS$ HKS HKS$ HK$ HK$
An A An A A An A
At 31 March 2021: RANEIBNA
Cost S 32,176,338 3800917 58223063 22262473 7483838 267,053,608  391,080.237
Accumulated depreciation e (11,792585)  (3,069,777)  (31,087.415)  (14,675,378)  (6,105,028) - (66,730,183)
Net carrying amount FE3E 20,383,753 811,140 27,135,648 158709 1378810 267053608 324,350,054
At 31 March 2022: RanERNE
Cost & 249,161,363 4167947 150867031 25,583,235 1,775,064 23,685,073 461,240,613
Accumulated depreciation 2itihE (13,000,269)  (3463,945)  (37,922,208)  (17,853,524)  (6,508,389) - (78,748,33)
Net carrying amount REFE 236,161,004 104,002 112,944,823 1129711 1,266,675 23685973 362,492,278

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$239,223,656 (2021: HK$266,883,438) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

R20226F3A 318 » AEBREFEA
#5239,223,6567%8 7T (20214F : 266,883,43878
7o) WETYE - BRERRESERESR

FAEBRN—ARR

——

1TH

BEAYIESR (FY5E26) ©
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15. LEASES 15. A8
The Group as a lessee TEBEEAEBEA
The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, clinics, AEEMHEEEMANHEEL
offices and warehouses used in its operations. Lump sum M ZH -MAEREEIBEHES
payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land from o REBZELIMBERNKER  ER
the owners with lease periods of 47 to 50 years, and no ongoing BEFTNESHEE L MFRAEE—X
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. MR HEBTENEFE  HBEAR T
Leases of clinics, offices and warehouses generally have lease BESZNERRIEB 2 - MRAER
terms between 3 and 5 years. BENHEIREE A3ESF o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets RERFERAEEEZREERE
and the movements during the year are as follows: AEENT :
Leasehold Clinics, offices
land and warehouses Total
2R
HELH MAEREE st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 1 April 2020 122020548 1H 35,811,841 4,877,501 40,689,342
Additions "E - 17,191,177 17,191,177
Termination of leases HE#IE - (1,663,105) (1,663,105)
Depreciation charge FEmEY (851,988) (4,904,569) (5,756,557)
Exchange realignment bE R ER 2L 2,962,871 4,868 2,967,739
As at 31 March 2021 and #2021 3831H &

1 April 2021 202148 1H 37,922,724 15,505,872 53,428,596
Additions nNE - 1,135,120 1,135,120
Depreciation charge EMX (908,962) (4,657,831) (5,566,793)
Exchange realignment E R R 1,595,301 555 1,595,856
As at 31 March 2022 142022538318 38,609,063 11,983,716 50,592,779

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$35,605,719 (2021: HK$34,943,357) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

12202238310 > A E B RE
H{E 49 235,605,719 7T (20214 :
34,943 357 T WETHERAREED
BIFEARTAERN —RIBITRE
BYIELR (MIsE26) ©
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. & @
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBREAERBA®
(b) Lease liabilities (b)) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaRZREERFRNESEU
during the year are as follows: T
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April R4 1B EREE 15,831,723 5,016,744
New leases WwHEE 1,135,120 17,191,177
Termination of leases ME&IE - (1,715,011)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year £ IFE SR HYFI B 18 f0 725,235 569,351
Payments (g (5,152,568) (5,233,583)
Exchange realignment BE S EH B - 3,045
Carrying amount at 31 March 3B THMEREE 12,539,510 15,831,723
Analysed into: pakign
Current portion TR EN &R R 4,602,712 4,177,767
Non-current portion JERENER D 7,936,798 11,653,956
12,539,510 15,831,723
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEaRZIID TR BRE
37 to the financial statements. MIzE37THRIREE o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) #8 i P HESEAY #H B 76 i~ T 40
leases are as follows: T
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGMNER 725,235 569,351
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITERX 5,566,793 5,756,557
Expenses relating to short-term leases BISHATE B MR R 2 1,402,593 1,197,831
Total amount recognised in profit or loss BRI RIE4EE 7,694,621 7,523,739
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) (d) FHENRERHBEBRRTHBRR
to the financial statements. B 5E32(c)iK & ©

(Wil *AEsRAR
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16.  GOODWILL 16. HE
HK$
BT
31 March 2022 2022538310
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of accumulated impairment ~ $220215481H Z B A< {& >
R RstRE 103,269,153
Impairment during the year FANHE (1,576,811)
Exchange realignment ERAE 4,521,431
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2022 202238310 Z BRI R & 106,213,773
At 31 March 2022: K:20224E3H318 -
Cost 0% I} 111,061,007
Accumulated impairment RKitiF{E (4,847,234)
Net carrying amount REFE(E 106,213,773
31 March 2021 20215E3H31H
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of accumulated impairment 52202054818 2 B 4~ 1& >
Nk EHRE 95,014,628
Exchange realignment PE R FHEE 8,254,525
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2021 20213831 H Z IR EFE 103,269,153
At 31 March 2021: 1202138318 -
Cost DN 106,391,134
Accumulated impairment REHRE (3,121,981)
Net carrying amount EREHE 103,269,153

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment

testing:

& REEN S
BREBGHEBZEELDE
ETIREELEEMFERERNR

Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Yunnan
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd (“Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical”)

Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd. (“TCM (China)”)

Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Zhuhai
Tianda Processed Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd. (“Zhuhai
TPCHM")

Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment of

EEBREREFRAR (HEE
RIz2BREERREELEN

RARBE (PE) ARAB (X
APRE (FE) ") 2HBEER
REeELEN
BRBRARPERABRLF (T
BRAPERR) 2PBEER
REeELEN

RAREE (i) 2BEERRS
EEE

B E2022F383MHLEFE > B

HK$1,576,811 (2021: Nil) was made for the goodwill attributable RERZSHEER BERRRSEE
to the CGUs for Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical, which are included B8 fur £ 7 2 R E1,576,81178 7T (2021
in the segment of Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies F .8\ UHABYMEBEERRZS

business as a result of loss-making during the year. &p o
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16.  GOODWILL (continued) 16. BE ®@w

130 ESEEEEERE

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Full impairment of HK$1,254,763 and impairment of
HK$1,626,903 were made for the goodwill attributable to the
cash-generating units for Zhuhai TPCHM and TCM (China) in
previous years, respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the pharmaceutical
products cash-generating units have been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the pharmaceutical products cash-generating units beyond the
five-year period is the same as the long term average growth rate
of the pharmaceutical industry.

BERENS @

BRBRAPERA RRAFEEE
(FE) WIREELEURGEEHERA
EFEE D BB EHIR{E1,254,76378 7T
K {E1,626,903% 7T ©

BEEMBESZEEEMAKOE
FEEREREEFEMEE » 2R
BESREEBH ERELFHZH
BREZRERERA - HEELFH
MRzZBREERRTELBURERN
ERBAZERXABETENRIY
19 REAEE -

Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai)
KA EE RRBEE
BERE (P E) (Bki8)
31 March 2022 20224E3H31H
Discount rate RhIRZE 20.66% 12.67% 14.51%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 3% 3% 3%
31 March 2021 2021538 31H
Discount rate AR IR = 17.18% 15.80% 15.90%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 3% 3% 3%

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the pharmaceuticals product cash-generating units as at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is with reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

BR=T5 AR H2022438318 %
0NEI/NMABREERFEEEEN
BEREE - U THINEERBANER
TRERAETHERENARNZ
RRIRR

RAERER-BRITERANE
ABRE -

EHERE— AU EEEER
REENEEASE REAYEEN
—EFHERMEFE o
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Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

16.  GOODWILL (continued) 16. £ @)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the pharmaceutical industry and discount rates
are consistent with external information sources.

The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

BEREENS @
REIRE —Fr ARG IR R BRI AT -
iz Bk E2 AR B BE A S A V45 RE RLRRR o

AREEBENBEERTHE
RRMREN T EZRRAIMEE R
R—E o

PEERREELENZHEZ
BRENFENT -

Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai) Total
XRHBE XREE
BERE (FE) (¥i8) e
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
B BT B B
Carrying amount of goodwill as at  1420224E38318
31 March 2022 ZHERAEE 4,916,540 1,541,803 99,755,430 106,213,773
Carrying amount of goodwill as at 7420213 831H
31 March 2021 ZEBREE 6,245,409 1,479,209 95,544,535 103,269,153

The effects of the reasonably possible change in
key assumptions on the calculation of value in use of the
cash-generating units, which would cause the carrying amounts to
equal to the recoverable amounts, are disclosed below.

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

During the year, impairment was made for the CGU and
there was no headroom between the carrying amount and the
recoverable amount.

TCM (China)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 16 percentage points (2021: 13
percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU
to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible
change in other key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.

TXRBTEZRINGEAIEE
EHREELBEUEREBEAENS
&> AR EUERREASHEET
IREEBY AU O] %8 o

BERE

ZREELBUNENSELRE
B MREERA O EEZ B E
EfRFZER o

XA EZE (hE)

FATEERA  FEHERET
F&161E &5 15 By (20214F : 13{E & 19 )
BENRSELEUNKREEAES®N
HoJ el %8 > M A YR [El & B8P ik ik
NEEFTERZNITANSETEES
FrEENHEEEENNREEBSH
Hollg e %8 o
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16.  GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease
in the forecasted growth rate by 5 percentage points (2021: 3
percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU
to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible
change in other key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.

17.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. BE ®@w

mERENE ®
XABE (FF)

AATEERS  BHEEET

FE5ME B {7 25 (20214 @ 3ME B {5 &) #&
ERFEELEUNREEESIE
FIUR (B 88 - 0 PJ UR [B] = BE PR ik 3 B9
HeEFZ2RKXVEFNSEAIELESHF
SENRTELEUNRAEELHHE
BGE kA

17. HEBREE

Licences and

Development

permits costs Total
Y BH 8% R 25 4Rz
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
31 March 2022 2022538 31H
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of R2021F4B1BZ
accumulated amortisation and HAE > BRE
impairment 9 T 3 1 19,558,978 8,225,890 27,784,868
Amortisation provided during the year £ {8 85 3 14 (4,829,884) (2,121,517) (6,951,401)
Exchange realignment (EREEE 777,615 326,106 1,103,721
At 31 March 2022 12022438318 15,506,709 6,430,479 21,937,188
At 31 March 2022: 182022538318
Cost s 100,060,802 10,002,968 110,063,770
Accumulated amortisation and B RRE
impairment (84,554,003) (3,572,489)  (88,126,582)
Net carrying amount REFE 15,506,709 6,430,479 21,937,188
31 March 2021 20214E3H31H
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of 1202048 1B 2
accumulated amortisation and A
impairment NERESt
#iH ROR B 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
Additions during the year ERRE - 765,795 765,795
Amortisation provided during the year £ A #8533 14 (4,555,488) (1,333,993) (5,889,481)
Exchange realignment fE e 1,739,615 662,382 2.401,997
At 31 March 2021 22021E3831H 19,558,978 8,225,890 27,784,868
At 31 March 2021: 22021838318 -
Cost D% 96,096,615 9,596,872 105,693,487
Accumulated amortisation and HEt#E KR E
impairment (76,537,637) (1,370,982)  (77,908,619)
Net carrying amount BREFE 19,558,978 8,225,890 27,784,868
RAEXFRAT
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18.

19.

Annual Report 2022

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 18. IEEABAABEIIAEERME

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Witz e A g &
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Equity investments designated at fair value ISESBRAABEIAEE
through other comprehensive income EEWEZRERE
Listed equity investments, ASLAN LEHRAEE
Pharmaceuticals Limited American ERERNBERAR
Depositary Shares, at fair value EEEERG -
BAREE 1,766,962 6,872,385
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated MU ERALET A HiH 5 E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group ARAABEFAEEZENE >

considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

AEERRSILFREBRBME -

INVENTORIES 19. F8&
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials EA R 18,074,011 19,966,387
Work in progress T8 27,519,168 13,648,990
Finished goods BT 29,301,095 30,777,575
74,894,274 64,392,952
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Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

1% EEEEEERE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. FEUNBRFR R FEUR E 4%
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables FE W BR =X 96,190,967 101,426,571
Impairment A (559,896) (119,680)
95,631,071 101,306,891
Bills receivable W E 46,112,697 43,902,074
141,743,768 145,208,965
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEREERFZEBSZAFRAETE

credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit periods range from 60 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

LRRAT  HEHER—REETEL
5 o EEHIEE A60E180K A E °
AEBHREBRERIEEIFTERE
B R EEEEESMBEERR
BRERE SHREEEBCHER G
R BN EXFERRASER
FEERR R ERER I RRERR
M EBEBREREERMR - AEEM
EFARR BRI FVIER R
HEMAREELZH - BIERA R EU
ZEARE o

RE|EHR > UERAHPAEE
HOFRFE W IR TR 2 B E RS 1R E R BV FE UL
IR BN R ZREDITMT ¢

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Within 2 months pA(EN=R 118,341,170 119,388,389
2 to 3 months 2ZE3EB 3,020,742 9,855,152
Over 3 months K [EY=P 20,381,856 15,965,424
141,743,768 145,208,965
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Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

20.

FE UL BR TR B FE YR =38 ()
FEW BRI 2 R B RS 1R 2 & F)

trade receivables are as follows: wmT:
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year RER] 119,680 168,039

Impairment losses/(reversal of WEEE,

impairment losses), net (B EIRERE) F5 435,780 (48,359)
Exchange realignment BE 52 S 4,436 -
At end of year REL 559,896 119,680

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by assigning an internal credit rating with reference to
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement

activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk

BEDTNEREBHHET 7
XNASEXREBABECERG TR
EEHR > UEEENNFIREMN - B
WBRDIREHIBE R G5 o BIEXR
HESFHAE  URMREERLR
HARRQBEARTBTER (MNBEA) - —
RIS > BUGRRINAIEBE—FH
FAREBHAITEBIRE > RIS R o

TXHINAEBMBWERRZEE

exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: ABER :
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating EET4RER Notes loss rate amount losses
FEHES HHES
B 5 BiEE EEREE 548
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
As at 31 March 2022 142022538318
Class 1 b i - 85,837,853 -
Class 2 55248 i) 0.10 3,110,441 2,985
Class 3 #5348 (i) 0.99 1,854,334 18,278
Class 4 55448 (iv) 2.14 4,955,676 105,970
Credit impaired receivables ElEEHERIIRR 100 432,663 432,663
Total 4a 96,190,967 559,896
As at 31 March 2021 72202138 31H
Class 1 $E148 i) - 66,107,831 -
Class 2 55248 ii) 0.18 32,877,515 60,266
Class 3 5348 (iii) 1.86 1,678,610 31,191
Class 4 Pt (iv) 3.70 762,615 28,223
Total 4Bt 101,426,571 119,680

| 7295 2022 IR
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i) Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and have a
good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past due.

(if) Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and have
a good repayment history. Certain portion of receivables from these
customers were past due but the Group expects that the receivables
can be recovered.

(i) Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group but
have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the
Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

(iv)  Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group expects
higher risk of irrecoverability for the receivables.

The bills receivable are due within 90 days. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the fair values of these bills
receivable approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short-term maturities of these receivables. There was
no recent history of default from bills receivable and the Group
estimated that the expected loss rate for bills receivable is
minimal.

20.

FEURBR 7R B FE U 4% (4@

M

U]

(if)

(ii)

()

FETPREAERREEEERER
R RYF o FEWERAR S R EHA -

FERS ASEERTEREBER
REMEDREL o EEFHE TR
WIE R - B K E B 5t T E
FENRBE SR o

FIEERAMUERALEREITR
5 BERCHRYT - BKRIRKER®
2 > (B BITEEH AT UL O FE K BRR o

BAEE PR EEH - BXAER
TRt FEWERI T A W R ES B % -

ZERREHEINOE A EIH] o 2

REEFRR  ZFRBREENQAR
BEAHKREERES  TEZHNZK
FRWEENIEHRRE - L HEfE
WEENTRENCSHEMAERE G
FENEENTRIAGRERER -

IRl <Azs5REAR
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21.  PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FAIRRIE - R HE RIS
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current JERED
Deposit for acquisition of items of: WU TEE ZEZE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRKE 2,489,612 1,469,272
Other intangible assets HeBEEE 21,212,842 9,876,247
23,702,454 11,345,519
Current mE
Prepayments FEftRIB 5,760,171 8,143,414
Deposits e 3,314,136 2,973,418
Other receivables HE R 3,226,441 2,995,207
12,300,748 14,112,039
Impairment allowance REEE (77,733) (62,378)
12,223,015 14,049,661
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of HBERHETCRWERZ R ER B
deposits and other receivables are as follows: HBEZEEWT
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year REH) 62,378 42,949
Impairment losses, net ERIEFE 15,355 19,429
At end of year REH 77,733 62,378
During the year ended 31 March 2022, HK$15,355 (2021: REE2022F3831H IEF E »
HK$19,429) was charged as provision for expected credit losses 15,3553 7T (20214F : 19,4293 7T) 14
on deposits and other receivables. The provision rates are based HERECERKRRZEIREEHEE
on an internal credit rating with reference to the historical records EMINRR - BEXRLERZ2EAEH
of the Group to determine the probability of default. Loss given BETHRZANBEETRUAETE
default is estimated based on market information. The loss rate HBEE - BHBRDREHIZESM
is then adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of o BAKEMAERURMEF KR
future economic conditions, as appropriate. B RFLBERRTER (MEHE) o
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21.

22.

23.

138 B

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  21. FE{I®RIE - mERHEECREUIR @)
(continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXEIAERIZERETCRK
exposure on the Group’s deposits and other receivables: RZEERRER :
As at 31 March 2022 142022538318
Expected credit loss rate FEHREERBEE 1.19%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) MEREE (BrT) 6,540,577
Expected credit losses (HK$) TAEHAE ER518 (B T) 71,733
As at 31 March 2021 72202138 31H
Expected credit loss rate THHAE EREX 1.0%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) “MERmEE (BJT) 5,968,625
Expected credit losses (HK$) FEHAE E K518 (B o) 62,378
STRUCTURED DEPOSITS 22. HIBEER

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and BEMEEREAREEYER A
represented wealth management products issued by banks. As RIFITETHMEEEEM 172022
at 31 March 2022, the aggregate principal of deposits and the F3/31H » FRAZBEAR BRI
rates of return were not guaranteed. The structured deposits were BIER - SBUETERNE RERED
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BREBBEERMRANEEZEME
on initial recognition. The fair values were based on the market E o ARBEEENRITRREHAR
values provided by the banks at the end of the reporting period. Rz HIHEE-
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23. RERFAEFERFE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and
bank balances (excluding those classified as held for sale)
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$326,646,871 (2021:
HK$197,594,925). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

REIREER » KEBUARKET
BZRERIRTHER (FEEREARE
fEHREE) 326,646,871 7T (20214 :
197,594,925/ 7T) - AREARTBEHRST
BAETEE AR EAKRESN
EEEHIIROIRAEE - EERMGESE
HE  AEETSBEEETINEE
BZRITBARBRBRAEECEK o

EFRIRTZHEEBENESAIRTE
A REF EF REEF S o RITHE
HERNRETEERCHZEER
YFRIERTT ©
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24. TRADE PAYABLES 24, FEMIERTR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of RERSHR > UBZEBHAE
each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as ERNEMEMZRE2NANOT !
follows:
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT ABTT
Within 2 months BB W 91,728,581 80,631,010
2 to 3 months 2E3EA 1,013,020 1,660,465
Over 3 months MEB UL 12,432,506 5,620,152
105,174,107 87,911,627
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally FEFTER A RET R > —RRI30E
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days. 60K AEME ©
25.  OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 5. HERGRKEESER
2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 14,078,207 11,758,764
Other payables HERBMAM (b) 17,337,661 6,463,954
Accruals FEstE R 63,993,354 59,903,601
Dividend payables FEFRR B 34,473 3,001,536
95,443,695 81,127,855
Notes: M sE
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) BHEEHEBUT:
31 March 2022 31 March 2021 1 April 2020
20225F3831B 20214E3831H 2020948 1H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Short-term advances received from customers BUZE ISR
Sale of products and provision of medical services $H%E & MRk iRfit 14,078,207 11,758,764 6,347,292
BRARTS
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver SHEaBEEERNBEE D RIZHE
pharmaceutical products and provide medical services. The increase BRI B URISHRRER c 20285498
in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the increase in short- ElEMETEERaNERMEE L hE
term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of EMNE 2 B INE B SRS 12 N B
pharmaceutical and Chinese medical products at the end of the year. o 2021EENEBENEEESHNE
The increase in contract liabilities in 2021 was mainly due to the REHEREESERNBKERSE
increase in short-term advances received from customers in relation to HREATRIZ INFR 3R
the sale of pharmaceutical products at the end of the year.
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average credit (b) HeEEMRAHANE > FHHEEAH

term of three months. =@8 -
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. sHEIR{ITE
3 March 2022 31 March 2021
N2E38MH N1F3[NE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HKS ate (%) Maturity HKS
BIRHIE ™) SIHARSA A7 al‘“ﬂ (%) SR BT
Current; it |
Bank loans - secured BTER-BRR China LPR#1% 2023 57,258,840  China LPR+1% 22 18,894,201
HEERTSE ABE HESHT5 004
BEHE REN=
1% 1%
Non-current: Frg.
Bank loans - secured BIER-FHR China LPR#1% 2023 - 2025 90,634,555  ChinalPR+%  2022-205 110,804,078
PEERTS ABE RE SRS ANE
BENZ -N5E BER= ~ 058
1% Mm%
147,893,395 129,698,279
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: EEJE’:‘J—X"F,HH FEEN
R17
Within one year or on demand —F R :E?ﬁ BiE 57,258,840 18,894,201
In the second year BT_ENRN 68,067,713 47,500,046
In the third to fifth years, inclusive ""_ =EFELERN
(@?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ) 22,566,842 63,304,032
147,893,395 129,698,279

Notes M =E

(@)  The bank loans bear interest at floating rates at the China LPR, (@ RITEREZHBNE BIEFEARR
published by the People’s Bank of China, plus 1% and are ﬁ’A\T*ﬁE'JEF'.‘ﬁ#ﬁ'T%iEHE*U'ZﬂDH%)
denominated in RMB. STEMUAREAE -

(b)  As at 31 March 2022, the bank loans were secured by the pledge (b)  FR20224E3H31H > RITERUAEERE
of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets and property, plant HEEAIA274,829375B T AEBRET
and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately FTREBEUARYE BRERSZEE
HK$274,829,375. In addition, the bank loans were secured by a O o B Ah 0 A & [ 5L20228 3 H29H
guarantee of Zhuhai Realty following the disposal of Zhuhai Realty HELKESEXR KEEXARTE
by the Group on 29 March 2022 and the guarantee was subsequently MIEHIER » ZIERRER2025E58
released on 12 May 2022. 128 #R5 o
As at 31 March 2021, the bank loans were secured by the pledge 72021438318 » RITERMUAERE
of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets, property, plant and +EEA 436,338,196 B T A EEE T
equipment and assets of a disposal group held for sale with an FREEE - ME -BERREUAR
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$436,338,196. BIEHEZHERARZEEFIRR -

(c)  As at 31 March 2022, the Group had unutilised banking facilities of () HR2022F3B3MB xEBEBXREBAHZ

140 ESEEEEERE

HK$16,058,334 (2021: HK$93,693,024).

$R1T RN B /416,058,334 75 (20214F :
93,693,024 7T) ©
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. BIEREAR
Fair value Withholding
adjustment tax on
arising from Other distributable
acquisition of intangible profits of
a subsidiary assets subsidiaries Total
K-
MEBAF MEBAE
Bz HE AR
RRfBEERER BREE RAZENR g
Notes HKS HK$ HKS HKS
(i3 AT AT AR AT
At1 April 2020 R0%F4B1H 446,022 6,796,028 436,166 1,678,216
Deferred tax credited to profitor loss ERE ?Emqu)\Z
duing the year BIEHE 10 (56,423) (1,850,170) (352692) (2,259,285)
Exchange realignment ERAE 35,631 515,447 - 551,078
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RONEFIBNBR
RaME4R1R 425230 5,461,305 83,474 5,970,009
Deferred tax credited to proft or loss FRE ?ﬁmuﬂ\z
during the year BILRE 10 (59,822) (1,408,509) (83474) (1,551,805)
Exchange realignment ERHE 17,375 216,505 - 233,880
At 31 March 2022 Ra2F3BMA 382,783 4,269,301 - 4,652,084

FEBERBERBRBEKT
DmAERAARRIEELESGEZ

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and
Australia of HK$156,337,000 (2021: HK$134,477,000) that are

available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax
losses arising in Mainland China and Macau of HK$48,809,000
(2021: HK$28,841,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen from subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% (2021: 5%). The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders.

NEMKRRERMNEN 2IRIBEEE
156,337,00038 7T (20214F : 134,477,0003%
7T) o REBINE R B I ARE KRS
T BT A A 4 85 ok 2R FE SR AR a7 e i 2
—ERERERZHIEE1E48,809,000
5T (20214 : 28,841,000 7T) o

AR &ZEGIERBEHEE—RE
F'a’ﬂE’\Jl‘T‘JE’z}EJ ’ E.l:vusﬁ_'!z-j(—_[ E}E
SR LR SH IR FE RS 18 » L m L
ZEGERIELERBEEE °

A X
MNERl 3% B & PR 2 K RS B 28 S A910% Y
FEIN o % T BH2008F1 1B & %%
RiERR2007E1RBAMBEEENE
F oo P EAPELAIINEIREEFRED
EEETUMBFIEL > BREMNTENR

XFRE - MEAEEMS » BHKRE
5% (20214F : 5%) o EIbASE BB

o B K P A 17 B9 3% 5 Y I8 /A B] 52008
F1R1AEEERAADIKRS
MR ©

A 5] A B g SR A AR 2 3t B
WATISMER -
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28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL 28. fg7s
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: ERE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  4,000,000,0008&% &= %
HEIBITZZER 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  2,150,041,884% = %
HEE1BTZEER 215,004,188 215,004,188
RESERVES 29. &

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 64 of the financial
statements.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal
of Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tinwise
Group”) in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a shareholder;
(2) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of the packaging and printing business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company;
and (3) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair
value of the disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange in 1992.

A R4S A B B R A
MEBRRHBRREUE G A H
HEHE o

HE#EBEARLRI 2010EHE X
AT EEM B A SlTinwise Investment
Limited Bz EL [ff B 2 B (4 F8 TinwisefE
) ZREERFAEEZAREE
EA—BREZRIEHE ; (2) 2012F
HEGRRINRBIERE ZXESHRH
EZAREE  FARKRERATZ
BIEHE ; RO 0NREHERES R
¥BZzREBERHEZAREE
FARKERAT ZIVEHE -

BHlfEBEDARBRRE-IRRE
BEARATRMDIR192FEEH R L™
METZ AR EERETZRAEE
SRR —REM B AR ZRAEEM
ERZETE -

RAAREARAE
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29.

30.

RESERVES (continued)

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements
and (2) the provision for production safety being accrued by a
subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based
on operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety
funds), which is transferred from retained profits to the statutory
reserves and could be utilised when expenses and capital
expenditures in production maintenance and safety measures are
incurred.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material

29.

30.

#E @

ERE BT IR R E A AL Z Y
BRABZEEZRBEREEZEMFTRE
MmEZLZFH B RB ZRIREEF
FHETERLEZDERQEERSE
ZHE o LT — R R R 2 B UE
BWABEERN F2%E4% 2 B EF]
REE HEREELZZES) > AR
BRMNEREAERE  BERNEES
EhLZEHEELEX HRERFZE
A -

BEEXFERERNBOESR
MEARE

BARERIFERED 2 ANEEK

non-controlling interests are set out below: BABFBEHINWT :
2022 2021
Percentage of equity interest held by EERESFAEN
non-controlling interests: BB DL :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical A g 45% 45%
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to DEREFIFERERN
non-controlling interests: KFE (BB af .
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical ek S (1,602,251) 1,224,264
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests: BT FIFERETRS -
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R 987,043 6,942,271
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS BRI AL
interests at the reporting date: R A RETAER ¢
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical RAEEE 32,522,397 33,786,248

| 7245 2022 JUEN
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14 BRI

30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-  30. B EXRIEEREZNIBHIES
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) B 28 @

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRAPAEEEENFEE R
information of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical. The amounts Eo-WENTHEREMFHEALAEM
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: HEE Z A

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue WA 82,232,944 109,854,785
Total expenses WhX (85,793,502)  (107,134,201)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (B518) aF (3,560,558) 2,720,584
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the 2~ E 2 H (A518) /UK H 48 %8
year (615,129) 8,316,191
Current assets MEEE 47,934,575 48,967,168
Non-current assets ERIEE 43,455,098 46,245,901
Current liabilities bRt (18,923,642)  (19,828,782)
Non-current liabilities JERBMERE (194,037) (303,734)
Net cash flows from operating activities REKETENN
REREREE 1,139,390 5,869,285
Net cash flows used in investing activites ~FARREZBNIRETREFEE (875,737) (387,684)
Net cash flows used in financing activites FARREBEZHNIRESHREFEE (1,024,721) (15,427,266)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE RIS HEIER
BB (761,068) (9,945,665)
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31.  DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY . HE—HHMBAR
On 29 March 2022, the Group disposed of its entire equity H?ZOZ?EEE 298 » REBEUKE
interest in Zhuhai Realty to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 168,601,072/ ST M A A Bl AL EER A
ultimate holding company of the Company at a consideration of EE’\J—FE'ﬂéﬁﬁTT{E’&E HEHRKE
HK$168,601,072, which was fully received on 29 March 2022. B2 ERAE > I BH020226F3529
B AN ENZERIE ©
Details of the net assets of Zhuhai Realty and the financial RBEXREFERMBRE:
impacts are summarised below: BB -
Analysis of assets and liabilities disposed: CHEBEEREGESN:
HK$
BT
Net assets disposed of: BHESEZFE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRE 70,061,137
Right-of-use assets FEHRAEEE 70,142,171
Cash and short-term deposits REREHES 16,703,510
Accruals &5t 718 (388,087)
Net assets BEFE 156,518,731
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MMBARZKE
HK$
BT
Disposal consideration HERE 168,601,072
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE (156,518,731)

Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net  MiB AT EEFEMN Bt
assets of the subsidiary reclassified to profit or loss EREENKXENBAT

on loss of control of the subsidiary Al E O EERS 103,967
Gain on disposal before transaction cost HEWE (RN S K A) 12,186,308
Transaction cost RSB (85,000)
Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary before taxation HE—HERBRATNMAT S FEE 12,101,308

An analysis of the net cash and cash equivalents inflow in ERLERBARZRERRE
respect of disposal of subsidiary is as follow: ZEEBFRASHUT:

HK$

BT

Cash consideration received BUWIREMKE 168,601,072

Bank balances and cash disposed of BHERITEGRKRE (16,703,510)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect REE—RREBATRN
of the disposal of a subsidiary RERBEEEEBBENERA 151,897,562

| 7245 2022 JUES
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146 ESEEECPE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH  32. fR&RERERME
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EEIIBHEXRS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to the FR O KEBMEZFA -WAE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,135,120 (2021: REENHEEZH > 7551135120
HK$17,191,177) and HK$1,135,120 (2021: HK$17,191,177), T (20214 1171911778 7T) &
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for clinics, offices 1,135,120 7T (20214 1 171911778
and warehouses. o MEREEAEEEREERE
1@ e
(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: (b) FMEFBHEENERES:
Interest- Duetoa
Lease bearing bank Dividend non-controlling
liabilities borrowings payables shareholder
ite e e AR
figaf RITER RS RRMIE
HKS HKS HKS HKS
B B B B
At 1 April 2020 R2020E4B1H 5,016,744 20,216,764 2,134,042 -
Changes from financing cash flows ~ REREREHENEE (4,664,232) 104,887,229 - -
New leases Wig 17191177 - - -
Termination of leases MELILE (1715,011) - - -
Dividend declared (note 12) BERKRS (f12) - - 2,795,054 -
Dividends paid ERE - - (2,527 ,560) -
Interest expense HERX 569,351 - - -
Interest paid classified as PEALERERE
operating cash flows ZBRFE (569,351) - - -
Dividends declared to BERTIEERER
non-controlling interests K8 - - - 6,942,271
Dividends paid to EfFEEREZZRE
non-controlling interests - - - (6,942,271)
Foreign exchange movement HNEEH 3,045 4,504,286 - -
A3t March 2021 and 1 Aprl 2021 R201ESA AR
W1FE4B1H 15,831,723 129,698,279 3,001,536 -
Changes from financing cash flows ~ RERMEREHENEH (4,421,333) 12,576,600 - -
New leases WHE 1,135,120 - - -
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRE (M312) - - 5,590,109 -
Dividends paid EfRE - - (8,557,172) -
Interest expense FISH% (725,235) - - -
Interest paid classified PEALERERE
as operating cash flows ZEBRFE 725,235 - - -
Dividends declared to BERTIEER
non-controlling interests BEZRE - - - 987,043
Dividends paid to ERFEEREZZRE
non-controlling interests - - - (987,043)
Foreign exchange movement SHEZEH - 5,618,516 - -
At 31 March 2022 R2022E38318 12,539,510 147,893,395 34,473 -
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32.

33.

Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH  32. f&FaBERERME @
FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) FHEMRERLHEEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FAGERERERNIRESREH
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MEAREUOE -
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within operating activities AARE R (2,127,828) (1,767,182)
Within financing activities REEEHR (4,427,333) (4,664,232)
(6,555,161) (6,431,414)
COMMITMENTS 33. ik
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RERERBREHARBEUTERK
end of the reporting period: ¥#
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
B BT
Contracted, but not provided for: [EHENEES LN
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKREE 65,505,284 85,595,795
Other intangible assets HegFEE 14,338,301 14,814,371
79,843,585 100,410,166
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BEALXRZS
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) MBHBFRRECIMHFLRZRE
these financial statements, the Group had the following S8 > REBRNEREREATE
transactions with related parties during the year: TUTRS:
2022 2021
Notes HK$ HK$
fEE AT BT
Sales of healthcare products: HEMREER .
Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments EmZ EREXRERE
Ltd. BRAT (i) 437,020 315,866
Purchases of package materials and %55 & 5 R ENRI# ) :
designing services:
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng KEKEBEREHMA (ii)
Printing Co. Ltd.* ENBBRAF" 8,954,477 6,447,918
Short-term lease payment foran A ERAEE L]
office space:
Tianda (China) Ltd. RAEBE (PE) BRAT (i) 597,697 563,740
Purchases of consumer goods: REHER .
Tianda (China) Ltd. RXAREE (hE) BRAF  (iv) 212,393 -
Design fee expenses: REtE .
Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd.*  FHI R KEIEBR AT (v) 62,830 -
Notes: PIEE :

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of
the Company. The sales to Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments
Ltd. were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to major customers of the Group.

Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The purchases from Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. to its major customers.

Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

The purchases from Tianda (China) Ltd were made according
to the published prices and conditions offered by the Tianda
(China) Ltd to its major customers.

Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

These related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(i

(i)

EMEEHREXRREBRATA
TRABNRRKBLE - mMERE
EEREXERARABMNHE
DEAREBRROAERTER
FIRHEARAETT -

HERERERMENFERAR
AERBNERMBAE o @I
BT @ R EN TS R IR A B R
BRERN BB EHMNEE
RABRBHEFIERRZER
B R AR o

AREE (PE) ARABSE

AENFRMEAT - HWRS
T8 R E R 2 R

EiT o

MAAEZE (FE) BRAFF

BERAAREE (FE) ARA

BiRMGETIERRZEAHE

B AERR ©

FNKRKBIZERABDA/ELT
NRZRMEBAR - BRIRZSHR
LB RE AR HET o

ZEMEANLRZIFEM LT
E\%IJ%MAEFEEEZJ’%%EEEKE
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34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Outstanding balance with a related party:

The Group had an outstanding trade balance due to a

fellow subsidiary, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd.,
of HK$4,935,990 (2021: HK$3,628,289) as at the end of the
reporting period. This balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and with a credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting
period, the balance was aged within 2 months based on the
invoice date.

(c)

34, FRE

(b)

AERB @
BARRE N LT 2R EBIELER .

FEERBEHREMERKM
B A B IR B S & WA EN S
BERRABZAREEE G GRS
4,935,99078 7T (20214F : 3,628,289
BT cAEHRAEER 2B
RIEEHAI0K o RIREHIR »
ZAERZ R ARBERAMZ
mEARA e

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) HAEETEEEASME:
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
B BT
Short-term employee benefits EREERT 4,308,278 5,696,059
Post-employment benefits RIREF 66,000 72,000

Total compensation paid to key ENTEEEAEMNELZE

management personnel 4,374,278 5,768,059

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

On 22 February 2019, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its entire
interest in Zhuhai Realty to Tianda Group Limited (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) at a consideration
of no more than RMB 145,000,000 in any event.

On 29 March 2022, the transaction was completed. Further
details of the transaction are included in notes 11 and 31 to
the financial statements.

The bank loans of the Group were guaranteed by Zhuhai
Realty, a subsidiary, which became a fellow subsidiary of
the Company following the disposal on 29 March 2022. The
guarantee was subsequently released on 12 May 2022.

EREERIZTHAEMEZ
E—T BN M HRARMIEES

2019528228 » Z&EEETLA
FHEENZE > MAAEEAR
AR (EBAXRBZERER)
HERBEZFZ 28 Em > 1B
FEABRIEGFEEBARE
145,000,0007T °©

BRI 5 12022F38298 52K ©
RAZE—THBHNMBERE
MiEE11 /%31 o

FEBRITERRKEEER
HER HEEE (—HKBA
) R2022FE38298 HEB KA
TABNRRMB AT o ZIER
BE 1% 122022458 128 f#F& ©
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35.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

35.

EWIAZER

REBSHRSEEMTAZRE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT :
2022
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value Financial through other
through assets at comprehensive
profit or loss amortised cost income Total
BRAREE BRAREE
fAREZ REERE HAHE2E
EWMEE JIRZEMEE Kh<EREE L EE
HKS$ HKS$ HKS HKS$
B B B B
Equity investments designated at far  $5E A A A EE: A
value through other comprehensive ~ HEZ2EWEZ
income RERE - - 1,766,962 1,766,962
Trade and bills receivables RS R BN E & - 141,743,768 - 141,743,768
Financial assets included in st ATIRE -
prepayments, deposits and other RreRHCERRZ
receivables EHEE - 6,462,844 - 6,462,844
Structured deposits GRUEN 14,583,400 - - 14,583,400
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkR&EEER - 334,001,475 - 334,001,475
14,583,400 482,208,087 1,766,962 498,558,449
Financial liabilities TRaR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Yo 128 55 P 25 5V AR
ZEMmaf
HK$
BT
Trade payables FE{FBRFR 105,174,107
Financial liabilities included in other SFAHERIMRESER
payables and accruals ZEHMaEd 71,617,503
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T RIRITEMR 147,893,395
Lease liabilities HEAaE 12,539,510
Due to a fellow subsidiary FE{S—RRE &M B AR RIE 4,935,990
342,160,505
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35.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 35. EMITHRZEN®

RBEERARZETH TR ZRE
BT : (%)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(continued)

2021
Financial assets

THEE

Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

BAnBEEA
HERAKGZEREE
Financial
assets at
amortised Equity Debt
cost investments instruments Total
REEmA
SR Z
tHEE RAKE BEIR g
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARNABERA
through other comprehensive income He2EWEZREARE - 6,872,385 - 6,872,385
Trade receivables FEWER R 101,306,891 - - 101,306,891
Bills receivable EhER - - 43902074 43,902,074
Financial assets included in prepayments, HARARE #ER
deposits and other receivables HeEhHzemEE 5,906,247 - - 5,906,247
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBES%EER 234,984,677 - - 234,984,677
342,197,815 6,872,385 43,902,074 392,972,274
Financial liabilities EMafE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
¥4 5 B AR 51 BR
ZERIBE
HK$
BT
Trade payables P& < BR 7R 87,911,627
Financial liabilities included in other STAHERERARAESER
payables and accruals ZEmMAaE 57,231,419
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HRIBITME 129,698,279
Lease liabilities HEAaE 15,831,723
Due to a fellow subsidiary e —RRE AR M B R RIE 3,628,289
294,301,337
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:

6. EMIAZAABERAAREE

F

FEENERTHE (KAEFE
HIRE(ERANBESEREERI)
FREERAAEBEENT

Carrying amounts
ARME(E
31 March 31 March
3831H 3A31H

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
A BT

Fair values
[REE
31 March 31 March
3B31H 38318

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
A BT

Financial assets

Equity investments designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Bills receivable

Structured deposits

EEABANEE
stAHEZE WS
ZREKRE

EEMEER

1,766,962 6,872,385
43,902,074
14,583,400 -

1,766,962 6,872,385
- 43,902,074
14,583,400 -

16,350,362 50,774,459

16,350,362 50,774,459

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

st BIRITIERK

147,893,395 129,698,279 148,013,497 129,678,937

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and an amount due to a fellow subsidiary approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of

these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices.

The fair values of structured deposits were based on the
market values provided by the bank at the end of the reporting
period. They are estimated with the principal plus estimated
interest income based on the expected annual rate of return.

BEEEENE 0 BRI B

REFATRARE - HERHETCE
WRzERMEE HERRTSEE
B BARS - stAHERNIRKRE
STERZEMERUKREN—HEER
MBABREZAABERAERBZ
FREERE  TEHRZFIARE
HAREHA -

TMEERBRZARBER
BREES CrRaEsaRHeE) M
ERXZPETIBNTRENEEA
iR - ERATI R EREBRMAEF AR
BfE:

BRARBEFARCEZERTZZ
RAEKREZ ARBEDHERTZRE -

ERETERNRAEEDRIER
TRREMREEHNTESE - ZF
FRUAEM EEERFORRAE
Y& 5t F S U A 5t o

RAAREARAE
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36.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of bills receivable and interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
values of the interest-bearing bank borrowings are categorised in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

3. EMIAZRAABERIAAEE
EiR @)

RWERE Rt BIRITERN AR
BEDRAFHELUFR  EEARK
FEFEIHAR M TRRA M XALIFR
HARRIRERESE o 5t BRITEN
E@’iﬁ%fﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%’&fﬁ%ﬁ%%&ﬁlﬂ’\]
%2"‘& °

DPRBEZH
TRAPEAEEESHRTANAR
BEI=EEHR:

Assets measured at fair value BanEBEAENEE
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bills receivable FEU E 45
— Fair value measurement using significant —UERATHRE
observable inputs (Level 2) o A 2R
EITAREE
st & ($24R) - 43,902,074
Structured deposits ERMER
— Fair value measurement using significant —UEARTHE
observable inputs (Level 2) B A B
EITAREE
stE& (5824R) 14,583,400 -
Equity investments at fair value through other RAAEBEITAHTE
comprehensive income PEREZRAGE
— Fair value measurement using quoted — LURIB TS HRE
prices in active markets (Level 1) EITAREE
stE (B14R) 1,766,962 6,872,385

The equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are listed on the National Association
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (“NASDAQ”) Stock
Market.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2021: Nil).

BRARBESARCZEREZ
REANRZEZSFRZEHME BEHIRE
R (WENER) RETHH L™ -

1220224 2021438318 » A&
Bl EU AR EBESAENENSHE

5 o

FER sHEERSHEBETE
BUREER AR BEASEE R
LU B ot 4 82 A o 85 HH 58 34K (20214 ©

#®) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 20224 3/5 31 H IFFEE

37.

IV xAzEEREAR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents and equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
structured deposits, trade payables, other payables and an
amount due to a fellow subsidiary.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 18). The Group’s listed investments are listed on the
NASDAQ and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. The market equity indices for the following
stock exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading
day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and their
respective highest and lowest points during the year were as
follows:

37.

TREAMEEBFEREE

FEENTEZEMTIAGER
ERREEEEEURE AR EES
AHREZEBRHZRERE - &ZFE
MIANTZENZRTEAEENE
B -AEFEEEFRANECEREE
hafE > MERBERRKRERERE H
E RSB ER - EAERR
HERNRKREMN—HBERRBELQR

FEFEMTEEENTERR
BERAERERE -« FIRERE - SMNE
R EERBRABETEAR -5
EEETUHERNEBELF R
BR > WA o

B 2 (B 15 AL B

REBEERAREREZSHAQ
SEERRKRREHKTNERESE
BEE2EMTENRRE - AEBEmEE
ERBANBEFARCEZENREZ
RAKE (f18) EEMNRAEBER
R - SEEN EHRENMETIER
£ WRRREROHIZRER
B UTRERZFAHBRERH (E
FRRBIAREARNI 7 B U E)
URAEFANE B RS MMRERN
T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2022 B E 202243531 H IFFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. £REMEEREREE @
POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued) RAERE RS (8@
High/low High/low
during the during the
As at  year ended Asat  year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2022 2022 2021 2021
&/ 18 =/ 18
#E38 B ZE3R8
M3A318 3MBLEEE H3A3MA MALEFE
2022 2022 2021 2021
The United States - NASDAQ EE - METER
Composite Index At 14,221 16,057/ 13,247 14,005/
12,581 7,360
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRAPHREALEAAEBES
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all SENMWNHRHE FIEEHEE28RT
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based FEUURE RERRIEZ FZEA) »
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. DERABRKENRESARNIREE
FH -
Carrying
amount Increase/
of equity (decrease)
investment in equity

RARE REzE 1 0
BERE(E /(D)

HK$ HK$
BT BT
2022
Investments listed in: RUTH#A EHNEE
The United States — Equity investments EE—EEARAR
designated at fair value through other BEAEEZT
comprehensive income WEZRBREKRE 1,766,962  17,670/(17,670)
2021
Investments listed in: RUT#A EHKE :
The United States — Equity investments EE-IEEAEAR
designated at fair value through other BESTAREZEH
comprehensive income WEZ ARG E 6,872,385  68,724/(68,724)
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37.

1% EEEEEEPE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and interest-bearing bank borrowings with a floating
interest rate. The Group has not used any interest rate derivatives
to hedge its interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank borrowings).

37.

TRHAMEEEEREE @

I 22 B
FEBEHTHANREHRERE
BHEAERRIIIRFAENRER
IRITHEERUK Gt BIRITERBRM - &
SRV EEREMAMNRTETIANY
AHMNERRRE  ERRARERERE
HHERFERAR -

TERARBPERBEHEEHFRE
BHER > FIXESEAREEHHAE
BRI AT RN BRE (BB F T
ERFFRRTSFEEBUKRER

THERNEE) -

Increase/
(decrease) Increasel/(decrease)
in basis points in loss before tax
HEL PRI AT RS 18
wgm, GRL) 1, GrL)
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 100 (63,063) (356,522)
RMB AR 100 (2,115,320) (811,594)
usb ETT 100 (7) (7)
HK$ BT (100) 63,063 356,522
RMB AR (100) 2,115,320 811,594
usb ETT (100) 7 7
Foreign currency risk Sh BB

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 0.8% (2021:
0.4%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the operating units making the
sale.

FEEFERZEEAR - AR
R REEEEMRNEMINEER
BN E TS Z $HE © 490.8% (20214F :
0.4%) Z AEEHE B LUEITIHE 2L
EEMNNBEMINREEEUINIEES
REEEBAL
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

s LB (i)
TRRBEFERECEHFRER

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the

end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held

Annual Report 2022

37. EREAKREEEERBE @

SR NEEZABTELT Y
A4 WIRTRAT (8598) A3 B 5 30

constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax. REIBELE °
Increase/
Change in (decrease)
foreign currency in loss
rate before tax
S5p% MRRAIESIE
BEREE Hm GHEL)
% HK$
BT
2022
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTE 1 (54,074)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTER LH (1) 54,074
If RMB weakens against AUD HEARBRRTER T 1 (1,089)
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEARBRRTESR FH (1) 1,089
If RMB weakens against MOP WE ANRBRRFITERTK 1 (8,918)
If RMB strengthens against MOP WEARBRRFTER EH (1) 8,918
2021
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTE 1 (313,963)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTER LH (1) 313,963
If RMB weakens against AUD HEANRBRRTER T 1 (6,211)
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEARBRRTER EFH (1) 6,211
If RMB weakens against MOP HWEARBRRFTERTK 1 (8,821)
If RMB strengthens against MOP WEARBERFTER EH (1) 8,821
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37.

18 B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  37. &RIEMEEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk EE R
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REREEFUIREEREFNE
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who ZHETRS - AEBENEEKRZE > Fr
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification BEUGERRETRZNEFRIGA
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on BBEERERR o b > EURERRR
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not BRREET DR ) AEEIRRA
significant. AKX o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RE AR EZER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJNENREAEEZEEEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which ZEEEEREEEERAR  XEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REfRER RIEEHEERAIERAN
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HRAMRERBIRBZHZERTER) >
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross MURE3AMN B ZFEREE DT o FR2
carrying amounts for financial assets. JNEREATHMEENEIREE-
As at 31 March 2022 Ft20224E3H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fBA M
EEEiHE SHEMEEBR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PEER B HIEER  MEERE @
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade receivables* e ER T - - - 96,190,967 96,190,967
Bills receivable EhZE 46,112,697 - - - 46,112,697
Financial assets included in FABMRIE  #2
prepayments, deposits and REERKRZ
other receivables EHEE
-~ Normal** —Eg" 6,540,577 - - - 6,540,577
Cash and cash equivalents RERkREEEER
~ Not yet past due — KA 334,001,475 = - - 334,001,475
386,654,749 - - 96,190,967 482,845,716
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

37. EREAKREEEERBE @

Credit risk (continued) EERR @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) REBERFEEEER (B
As at 31 March 2021 12202138 31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12181 B TR
FEEE 2MRBEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FEE MR BB WEARE Mzt
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT B
Trade receivables* e R = - - - 1014265571 101,426,571
Bills receivable el ZEE 43,902,074 - - - 43,902,074
Financial assets included in STATBARE B
prepayments, deposits and other ~ REEEKFZ
receivables EMEE
- Normal** —EgE" 5,968,625 - - - 5,968,625
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEER
— Not yet past due — B R 234,984,677 - - - 234,984,677
284,855,376 - ~ 101426571 386,281,947

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

' MEEEERHBERBHESEZ
RUERRMS » BEREETRZER
1 RA 35 3R R MASE201% 8% o

* o FABRMRE-RERHEBERZ
THMEEZEEEZNAMTRMEE
BRI A R > WEE R
TEHERMBEEZEERRBEBERE
RMLORAEEEM - BRI ARESRE
EZEEERRAA/RE -

| 7245 2022 IR
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. €REMEEBREREE @

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk M E = E R
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZBRSEEBERRT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans ENKREEZRAREREUERE
and projected cash flows from operations. EREHEREEG M T -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIBE TR > KEE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual THEBERHRESHRZIBPERNOT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2022
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
HEKXY
—EUTF -EiE nxm
HK$ HKS$ HK$
B Br B
Trade payables FEfTERR 105,174,107 - 105,174,107
Other payables and accruals HeRAmREFER 71,617,503 - 71,617,503
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SERTER 63,743,294 94,818,139 158,561,433
Lease liabilities HEERE 5,116,656 8,297,295 13,413,951
Due to & fellow subsidery Ef-BRZKEATRE 4935,990 - 4935,990
250,587,550 103,115,434 353,702,984
2021
On demand
or no later Tt
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREXY
—&ETF —-Eif g
HKS HK$ HK$
B B B
Trade payables FEfTIRAR 87,911,627 - 87911627
Other payables and accruals HeRAmRESER 57231419 - 57231419
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SEBRTER 25,032,195 118,467,999 143,500,194
Lease liabilities HEaR 4,864,656 12,478 237 17,342,893
Due to a fellow subsidiary Ef—HRZKRBARDTE 3,626,269 - 3,628,289
178,668,186 130,946,236 309,614,422

1600 B
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent.
Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as

37.

TRAMEEEEREE @

BFXER

FEFEAEENTIEZBRER
EAEBFECENESN  LRER
BHEARLER UXFEEBFALEIR
IREREESZKIE-

75 £ B AR $R A K i 22 Bl B AR B
EEMNRBEHEEEAREBT Y
HE ABBHARELRGEE A&
ErRAERREIRCHRE «  @KRE
REBEXRFBITHRGD - £EEART
ERIMNEBHENN B E B KRFAIR - B E
20224 20213 A3 AL EE > B1E
BEANBEE  BRKIEF L mES o

FEBEREAEELE AR
BRUBAGBRRELED ERE
& EHEEFBRITER - BELE
EEABRREGER BERSH

at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: FNEXRGELEENT
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 147,893,395 129,698,279
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATKRREGED 756,754,253 756,708,516
Gearing ratio BARBELEX 19.5% 17.1%
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38.

([ *rzesREAR

STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  38. ZFABZH#EIKRER
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the . BRSABREBEHRZHMER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZEMUMT
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
BT Bt
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENE E
Plant and equipment iR B2 R 5% 208,876 390,930
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10,909,786 14,876,981
Due from subsidiaries P& Ui B &8 A =) FR 1B 175,188,125 312,608,402
Investments in subsidiaries BB ARZKRE 296,280,826 296,280,826
Total non-current assets ERBEELEE 482,587,613 624,157,139
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Deposits and other receivables BERETCRKER 2,165,817 2,174,858
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEIER 257,796,764 136,150,293
Total current assets MBEEHEE 259,962,581 138,325,151
CURRENT LIABILITIES it =N
Other payables HEBEASH 3,798,372 6,442 474
Lease liabilities HEAaR 3,944,217 3,754,114
Due to a subsidiary FEAS It B A B 7 IE 240,959 285,636
Total current liabilities BB ELEE 7,983,548 10,482,224
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 251,979,033 127,842,927
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #2EE R & & 734,566,646 752,000,066
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaR 7,448,203 11,392,421
Total non-current liabilities ERENEELEEE 7,448,203 11,392,421
NET ASSETS BEEFE 727,118,443 740,607,645
EQUITY R
Share capital f& Zs 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves (note) EE (M5E) 512,114,255 525,603,457
Total equity kL] 727,118,443 740,607,645
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
F X axX%
Chairman Executive Director
EER HiTEE
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38.

39.

STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  38. ZFAFRZMBRRAE @
COMPANY (continued)
Note: Mk :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARREZHBENT !
Capital Capital Exchange
Share  redemption  contribution fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R X ER
RHOEE EBEEEE  HREE OREHE  REEN FCE]
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 1 April 2020 202054818 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (31,184,709) 112,744,324 525,770,903
Loss for the year TEEFB - - - - (9488,293)  (9,488,293)
Exchange difference arising on translation #HEEEZERERE - - - 12,115,901 - 12,115,901
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE 2 E IR 1E%E - - - 12115901  (9,488,293) 2,627,608
Final 2020 dividends declared BEER00EFABE - - - - (2795054)  (2,795,054)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 2021538318 K
202154818 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (19,068,808) 100,460,977 525,603,457
Loss for the year rEERE - - - - (13,807,560) (13,807,560)
Exchange difference arising on translation HEELZEREEE - - - 5908467 - 5908467
Total comprehensive loss for the year rEEREBBEE - - - 5908467 (13,807,560)  (7,899,093)
Final 2021 dividends declared BER02AMFERBRE - - - - (5590,109)  (5,590,109)
At 31 March 2022 2022538318 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (13,160,341) 81,063,308 512,114,255
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. MBHRRZHME

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2022.

MBImREMN2022F65290 €%
FERERAAETIE -
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A

RESULTS
E 3
Year ended 31 March
HEIRAMALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FTET FT#x
Revenue A 361,555 527,003 491,475 474,332 509,955
(Loss)/Profit before tax br#AT (B518) /& F 29,942 26,167 15,928 (27,442) (28,018)
Income tax credit/(expense)  Fr{SIRIER (2 H) (7,780) (10,184) (7,128) 1,524 6,343
(Loss)/Profit for the year AEE (F518) /8H 22,162 15,983 8,800 (25,918) (21,675)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: ~ (&518) /&FIERBH
Owners of the parent ISYNGILE 10,008 2,657 3,143 (27,142) (19,771)
Non-controlling interests R 12,154 13,326 5,657 1,224 (1,904)
22,162 15,983 8,800 (25,918) (21,675)
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
HA AL AL AL #fl
(Loss)/Earnings per share =A% (§538) /& F 047 0.12 0.15 (1.26) (0.92)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERAR
At 31 March
K3H318
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FHET F#ET
Total assets BEHE 1,045,308 996,769 933,123 1,133,461 1,164,151
Total liabilities I=REFEE (159,723) (185,803) (173,360) (342,966) (375,076)
885,585 810,966 759,763 790,495 789,075
Equity attributable to owners B’A T BR R
of the parent FE 5 1 2 847,728 777,203 722,777 756,709 756,754
Non-controlling interests R 37,857 33,763 36,986 33,786 32,321
885,585 810,966 759,763 790,495 789,075
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